
STAFFORD COUNTY BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS MINUTES 
May 27, 2014 

 
The regular meeting of the Stafford County Board of Zoning Appeals (BZA) on Tuesday, May 27, 2014, 
was called to order with the determination of a quorum at 6:59 p.m. by Vice-Chairman Danny Kim in the 
Board of Supervisors Chambers of the George L. Gordon, Jr., Government Center.   
 
MEMBERS PRESENT: Danny Kim, Robert Grimes, Ernest Ackermann, Ray Davis, Larry Ingalls, 

Gregory Poss, and Steven Apicella, 
 
MEMBERS ABSENT:  Dean Larson and Heather Stefl 
 
STAFF PRESENT:   Melody Musante and Stacie Stinnette 
 
DETERMINATION OF QUORUM 
 
Mr. Kim:  Let the record reflect that we have a quorum tonight with 7 members voting, present. The 
members present and voting tonight are:  far right is Mr. Steven Apicella, Mr. Ray Davis, Mr. Robert 
Grimes, Mr. Gregory Poss, Mr. Larry Ingalls and Dr. Ernest Ackermann.  The staff is represented tonight 
by Ms. Melody Musante, which is our Zoning Manager and our recording secretary, Stacie Stinnette.  The 
hearing will be conducted in the following order: the Chair will ask the staff to read the case and the 
members of the Board may ask questions of the staff.  The Chair shall then ask the applicant or their 
representative to come forward and state their name and address and present their case to the Board.  The 
presentation shall not exceed 10 minutes unless additional time is granted by the Board.  Members of the 
Board may ask questions of the applicant to clarify or better understand the case.  The Chair will then ask 
for any member of the public who wishes to speak in support of the application to come forward and 
speak.  There shall be a 3 minute time limit for each individual speaker and a 5 minute time limit for a 
speaker who represents a group.  After hearing from those in favor of the application, the Chair will ask 
for any member of the public who wishes to speak in opposition to the application to come forward and 
speak.  After all public comments have been received the applicant shall have 3 minutes to respond.  We 
ask that each speaker present their views directly to the Board and not to the applicant or other members 
of the public.  After the applicant’s final response the Chair shall close the public hearing.  After the 
hearing has been closed there shall be no further public comments.  The Board shall review the evidence 
presented and the Chair shall seek a motion.  After the discussion of the motion the Chair shall call for a 
vote.  In order for any motion to be approved, 4 members of the Board must vote for approval.  In order to 
allow the Board time for appropriate review, the applicant or applicant’s representative is required to 
submit relevant material to the Department of Zoning and Planning 10 business days prior to this hearing 
to be included in the staff report. The Board may accept additional relevant material from the applicant or 
the applicant’s representative during the hearing.  However, large amounts of additional material may 
require a deferral at the Board’s option on behalf of the applicant to allow the Board to consider that 
additional material.  All members of the public and/or staff may also submit relevant material during the 
hearing.  The applicant should be aware that tonight we have 7 members present and you must have 4 
affirmative votes to approve an application.  If you do not think that there are enough members present 
tonight that will enable you to receive a fair hearing, then you have the right to defer the hearing until 
another meeting.  However, you may defer the hearing for the reason only once in a 12 month period.  
Deferral requests are granted at the sole discretion of the Board.  The applicant may withdraw his or her 
application for any time prior to a vote to approve or deny the application provided the applicant has not 
withdrawn a substantially similar application with the last 12 months. Any person or persons who do not 
agree with the decision of this Board shall have 30 days to petition the Stafford County Circuit Court to 
review our decision. Also be aware that the Board will not hear any denied application for a variance or 
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special exception that is substantially the same request for at least 1 year from the date of our decision.  I 
now ask that anyone who has a cell phone or pager, or other electronic device, to please silence it.  Thank 
you.  It is the custom of this Board to require any person who wishes to speak before the Board shall be 
administered an oath.  Therefore, I ask that anyone who wishes to speak tonight stand and raise your right 
hand.  Do you hereby swear or affirm that all the testimony before this Board shall be nothing but the 
truth?   
 
Barbara Hennessy:  Yes, Sir.  
 
Richard Deyo:  Yes, Sir. 
 
Jothan Watkins:  Yes, Sir. 
 
Barry Boyd:  Yes, Sir. 
 
Mr. Kim:  Thank you.  Please be seated.  The Chair asks when you come to the podium to speak, please 
first give your name and address clearly into the microphone so the recording secretary can have an 
accurate record of the speakers.  Also, please sign the form on the table at the rear of the room.  Are there 
any changes or additions to the advertisements? 
 
Ms. Musante:  There are no changes. 
 
Mr. Kim:  Thank you. 
 
DECLARATIONS OF DISQUALIFICATION 
 
Mr. Kim:  Okay before we hear the first case, does any Board member wish to make any declaration or 
statement concerning these cases to be heard before the Board tonight.  Thank you.  Okay.  I know ask the 
secretary to read the first case. 
 
PUBLIC HEARINGS 
 
1. SE14-03/1400156 - Barbara A Hennessy - Requests a Special Exception per Stafford County 

Code, Section 28-35, Table 3.1 "District Uses & Standards," R-1, Suburban Residential, to allow 
an office that supports the Federal Government as a Home Business on Assessor's Parcel 28F-5-
250. The property is zoned R-1, Suburban Residential, located at 21 Kirby Lane, Augustine North 
Subdivision. 

 
Ms. Musante:  You have the application, the application affidavit, plat of the property and a diagram of 
the office and the business information.  The applicant is requesting approval of a Special Exception to 
operate a business in her home that includes a part time employee.  The business “Command Decision 
Systems and Solutions” is a professional service contractor supporting the Federal Government.  The part 
time employee will be coming to the home 3 days per week.  The company has a different designated 
location for meeting with clients so no clients will be coming to the home.  One off-street parking space 
for the part time employee will be provided and the requested days and hours of operation are Monday 
thru Friday from 8 a.m. to 5 p.m. with no weekend hours.  Home business standards allow for 25 percent 
of the gross floor area to be utilized for the business.  The applicant has indicated 225 square feet will be 
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used for the business which meets this requirement since the house has 3,660 square feet.  The single 
family dwelling was constructed in 2002.   
 
Mr. Kim:  Are there any questions for the staff?  Okay, now I open the public hearing.  Would the 
applicant or his or her representative please come forward to present their case please. 
 
Ms. Hennessy:  Hi, I’m Barbara Hennessy.  I just recently closed down my Stafford office, right off 610, 
because the rent was very expensive and our operations, our contract was completed with the Marine Core 
and completed early with the draw down.  We supported the mine resistant ambush protection vehicle 
with the Marine Corps.  And that being said, the only other function that was in that office, is my office, 
the office of the president and I have a HR director that’s just been phenomenal in recruiting.  And when 
we’re working new business proposals, I really need to be connected to work, because we work on those 
very aggressively to get the right people.  We have offices in D.C., we have offices in Patuxent River, 
Charleston South Carolina and the majority of our employees are working on Government installations.  
So we really did not get much use out of the space on 610.  The company gets a lot more hours of me, if 
I’m co-located in my home and the arrangement with, Stacie Beach is her name, my HR director, it’s 
maximum 3 days a week, but normally she’s on the road recruiting as well.  I think my neighbors will see 
that mostly I’m gone from the house and at very early times, because I’m always on the road.  So it’s a 
matter of convenience and preference and cost savings.  Right now we don’t have the need for an office 
right in Stafford, but I moved to the area and I love the area and I want to stay here. 
 
Mr. Kim:  Any questions for the applicant? 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  Just to clarify exactly what you’re doing.  You just basically want to use your home as your 
office away from the office, I guess. 
 
Ms. Hennessy:  Correct. Correct.  I get a lot more hours worked when I’m not having to go back and forth 
and so I want to have it set up, a server put in the room and I am dependent upon the support of my HR 
director with recruiting.  All we do is a lot of proposal work and we’re all about people so it’s a lot of 
recruiting.  It has to be done country wide. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  Your application indicated that you wouldn’t have any other people or clients come into the 
house, or meeting at your house? 
 
Ms. Hennessy:  I prefer it that way as well.  We do have an office in D.C. that’s very convenient. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  Well, the question I always like to ask on something like this, if I lived across the street, 
would I know that you are having this going on in your house, if I hadn’t talked to you tonight? 
 
Ms. Hennessy:  Probably not.  You wouldn’t see anything different.  I mean, I have a laptop that 
commutes from home to the office, but no, you wouldn’t see it.  You wouldn’t see any change in delivery 
trucks.  A lot of our corporate functions are shipped down to Charleston. You know, all the security, 
accounting, all that, legal is all done down there.  So it’s just the business developing role that I do.  The 
only difference you might see is the lights on more. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  Okay, thank you. 
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Dr. Ackermann:  I have a question.  So do you expect other employees where you’re having business 
meetings at this office? 
 
Ms. Hennessy:  No, no.  I feel uncomfortable doing that myself.  I’m willing to share my privacy with my 
HR manager and that’s about the extent of it.  Like I said I have the Charleston office for a lot of the 
corporate functions and I’ve driven down there for meetings and then the D.C. office for teaming and all 
the other transactions that I typically do.   
 
Dr. Ackermann:  Thank you. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  I have a question.  So, have you had a chance to read the suggested development conditions 
in the staff package? 
 
Ms. Hennessy:  The development? 
 
Mr. Apicella:  So when we grant the special exception we may also impose certain conditions like hours 
of operations.  
 
Ms. Hennessy:  Oh, yes, yes. 
 
Mr. Apicella:   So there were 5 that were identified.  Are you familiar with those? 
 
Ms. Hennessy:  Not of the top of my head right now, but I did read them when I filled out the application 
package. 
 
Ms. Musante:  We do send a copy of the staff report to all applicants, so she should have received that last 
week. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  So the only thing I might throw out there is just for further clarification and for you 
consideration as well as my fellow BZA members.  You’ve indicated that there’s only going to be one 
employee at any given time.  I would like to add something to that effect in the conditions just so, again, 
we don’t want 10 employees showing up on a given day.  It seems to be not your intent, but something 
along those lines would, I think, benefit your neighbors so that, again… 
 
Ms. Hennessy:  That would be fine. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  Okay.  Thank you. 
 
Mr. Grimes:  I didn’t notice anything in reference to signage.  Are you planning on installing any kind of 
sign identifying… 
 
Mr. Hennessy:  No need for one, no. 
 
Mr. Grimes:  Great, thank you. 
 
Mr. Kim:  Any members of the public, who wish to speak in support of this application, please come 
forward.  Any member of the public who wishes to speak in opposition please come forward. 
 

Page 4 of 55 
 



Board of Zoning Appeals Minutes 
May 27, 2014 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  Can I ask one more question of the applicant. 
 
Mr. Kim:  Yes, absolutely. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  I guess, I want a way to control home businesses within subdivisions, somewhat control 
them, because the special exception is not for you, it’s really for the property.  It goes with the property.  
It doesn’t move if you move.  The special exception stays on the property. 
 
Ms. Hennessy:  Does it change when you change owners? 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  No. 
 
Ms. Hennessy:  Really?  I didn’t know that. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  So, to kind of figure out how to do that, sometimes we like to put time limits on how long 
you can run this business out of your home.  If I were to say 5 to 8 years, was that a… 
 
Ms. Hennessy:  That’s fair. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  You can always come back, but in case things change, I don’t know what’s going to change 
and I’m assuming you’re going to be a good neighbor and all the things are going to go….like I said, 
you’re not going to have any problems, but as a way, like I said, once you either move, or you decide not 
to do it here anymore, the next person moving in, we’d have a chance to talk to them about what they’re 
going to do for this same residence. 
 
Ms. Hennessy:  Okay, well, 8 years, I’ll be retired by then or headed for retirement by then.  Right now, I 
just made a policy, a corporate policy that I don’t go rent space without revenue matching it.  Okay?  
Having to pay 80,000 to get out of the 610 space because I don’t have revenue matching it, was a big hit 
and until I have revenue matching where I’m going to work, then I’d prefer it to be out of my home.  8 
years would be fine.  5 would be cutting it close. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  Okay, thank you.   
 
Mr. Kim:  We will now close public hearing for this application and bring the matter to the Board for 
motions and decisions.  Steven, did you want to bring up your motion for…what were you suggesting on 
numbers? 
 
Mr. Apicella:  Mr. Chairman, I would recommend adding to the suggested developing conditions “no 
more than 1 employee shall be on the premises at any given time”. 
 
Mr. Kim:  Do you motion…I mean… 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  I’d also like to add one and maybe we can vote one at a time or however you want to do it. 
 
Mr. Kim:  I think one at a time would be best. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  Okay. 
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Mr. Kim:  Is there a motion for… 
 
Mr. Apicella:  So I move to that affect, Mr. Chairman. 
 
Mr. Grimes:  I would offer an alternative that if we say one employee that would limit Ms. Hennessy to 
herself.  I think she stated in the conditions that she would have a part time employee there 3 days a week, 
so… 
 
Mr. Apicella:  I don’t think employee is the…I’m looking at Melody…would be… 
 
Ms. Musante:  The applicant, the owner, is not included in the number, because they are the applicant.  
They have the right to actually operate a home office out of their home.  The only reason they are in front 
of you tonight is because she has that one additional employee.  So she is not counted in the number. 
 
Mr. Grimes:  Terrific.  Thank you for the clarification.  That makes a lot more sense.  
 
Mr. Kim:  Did anyone second Steven’s… 
 
Mr. Grimes:  I would second Mr. Apicella’s addition to the suggested development conditions. 
 
Mr. Kim:  Okay, I have a motion made by Mr. Steven Apicella and seconded by Mr. Robert Grimes to 
approve 1 employee at all times? 
 
Mr. Apicella:  No more than one employee may be on the premises at any given time. 
 
Mr. Kim:  Okay. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  I’d like to add a condition.  I do have concerns about these special exceptions as we’re 
approving them.  We used to say for the applicant only and that way we knew once that applicant seized 
to do business and moved on that special exception was done and that was ruled that wasn’t legal and I 
think that’s why, I think I had Melody see what the state legislation says that we can do for special 
exceptions.  One of the things that we can do is, as a condition is, limiting the duration of a permit and 
that’s allowed by state law and so I would like to limit this to 8 years.  She seems to think that’s a 
sufficient time that she’s going to operating this and after 8 years this permit would expire and if she 
wanted it longer she’d just have to come back here, but otherwise it’s a way of getting rid of these special 
exceptions off of these properties as we go through life.  Forever is a long time. 
 
Mr. Kim:  I agree. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  So I’d like to add a motion that we include that the permit is for a duration of 8 years from 
the day of our approval. 
 
Mr. Kim:  Yes, I say we vote on the first one and then we come back to yours.  I have a motion by Mr. 
Steven Apicella and seconded by Mr. Robert Grimes to approve the special exception in case SE14-03… 
 
Mr. Apicella:  Mr. Chairman, I didn’t necessarily recommend approval, I’m good with that if you want 
me to modify my motion, but then we would have to add Larry’s motion as well, so all I was doing was 
just modifying the proposed development conditions and then we can take up my motion and we can take 
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up Larry’s unless there’s any more and then we could vote on whether or not to proceed forward and 
grant the special exception. 
 
Mr. Kim:  I think we should vote on the two special exceptions and then we can go as a whole and vote to 
either approve or deny.  Does that make sense? 
 
Mr. Apicella:  Yes, Mr. Chairman, makes sense to me. 
 
Mr. Kim:  Have a motion to add Mr. Steven Apicella’s, and seconded by Mr. Robert Grimes, to add “no 
more than one employee” into the special… 
 
Mr. Apicella:  No more than one employee may be on the premises at any given time. 
 
Mr. Kim:  At any given time.  All those in favor say aye. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  Aye. 
 
Mr. Grimes:  Aye. 
 
Mr. Davis:  Aye. 
 
Mr. Poss:  Aye. 
 
Dr. Ackermann:  Aye. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  Aye. 
 
Mr. Kim:  Aye.  All those opposed?  And the special exception, did anybody second Mr. 
Larry…seconded, okay.  I have a motion made by Mr. Larry Ingalls and seconded by Dr. Ernest 
Ackermann to add a special exception that it’s an 8 year special exception. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  The special exception shall expire in 8 years from the date of our approval. 
 
Mr. Kim:  All those in favor? 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  Aye. 
 
Mr. Grimes:  Aye. 
 
Mr. Davis:  Aye. 
 
Mr. Poss:  Aye. 
 
Dr. Ackermann:  Aye. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  Aye. 
 
Mr. Kim:  Aye.  All those opposed?  Okay.   
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Mr. Apicella:  Mr. Chairman, I move for Board of Zoning approval of SE14-03/1400156 with the 
modified conditions. 
 
Mr. Poss:  Second. 
 
Mr. Kim:  Okay, I have a motion made by Mr. Steven Apicella and seconded by Mr. Gregory Poss to 
approve or deny the request for a variance or special exception as stated in case number SE14-
03/1400156. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  Mr. Chairman, just to clarify, it’s not to deny, it’s to approve.  You added those two words. 
 
Mr. Kim:  To approve.  To approve.  All those in favor say aye. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  Aye. 
 
Mr. Grimes:  Aye. 
 
Mr. Davis:  Aye. 
 
Mr. Poss:  Aye. 
 
Dr. Ackermann:  Aye. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  Aye. 
 
Mr. Kim:  Aye.  All those opposed?  Let the record reflect that the motion is approved by 7 of 7 votes.  
Okay.  Will the secretary read the second case please? 
 
2. SE14-04/1400161 – Richard R. Deyo - Requests a Special Exception per Stafford County Code, 

Section 28-35, Table 3.1 "District Uses & Standards," R-1, Suburban Residential, to allow a 
weapons transfer station as a Home Business on Assessor's Parcel 21B-824. The property is zoned 
R-1, Suburban Residential, located at 1102 Cape Code Drive, Aquia Harbour Subdivision. 
 

Ms. Musante:  You have the application, the application affidavit, plat of property, HOA requirements 
and home business standards.  The applicant is requesting a Special Exception to conduct firearm transfer 
services as a home business. Firearm transfer services is a method of transferring a weapon from the seller 
to the buyer through an intermediary firearms dealer.  This service is used most often when a weapon sale 
crosses state lines.  The weapon is purchased and sent by the seller to the local Federal Firearms Licensee 
(FFL).  The local FFL completes the transaction paperwork, verifies the identification of the buyer and 
hands over the firearm.  Requested days and hours of operation are by prearranged appointment only for 
background check and transfer of ownership of the weapon.  The applicant has stated the transfers will by 
appointment only during the days and hours of Monday through Friday from 1:00 PM to 6:00 PM, half 
day on Saturday and closed Sunday.  The applicant indicates he will provide six (6) off-street parking 
spaces but only anticipates two (2) customers per day.  This will be a federally licensed business and 
persons will, from time to time, come to this residence to complete a firearm transfer transaction or 
background check. Home Business standards allow for 25% of the gross floor area to be utilized for the 
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business.  The applicant has indicated 364 square feet will be used for the business which meets this 
requirement as the gross floor area of the dwelling is 2,500 square feet. 
 
Mr. Kim:  Are there any questions for staff? 
 
Mr. Apicella:  Just for the sake of the record, these conditions are similar to the condition we’ve placed on 
other, similar applications. 
 
Ms. Musante:  That is correct. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  Thank you. 
 
Mr. Kim:  Okay.  Will the applicant or his, or her representative please come forward and present their 
case. 
 
Mr. Deyo:  Hi, my name is Richard Deyo.  I live at 1102 Cape Code Drive, Stafford.  I’ve applied for the 
FFL license through the ATF.  I do have approval from the neighborhood that I live, Aquia Harbour.  I 
went through them first prior to filing for the application here to make sure I was following all the 
guidelines that we have at the Harbour itself.  I understand the guidelines that you’ve proposed.  I have no 
problems meeting those guidelines.  I’m the only one that will be employed there.  I will be the only one 
making any appointments.  Having said that, that guarantees only one person at my place of residence at a 
time.  I don’t expect a hand full of people running into my house.  We will not, and I want to make this 
perfectly clear, we’re not in the business to sell firearms at all.  I’m only there as a conduit for the ATF 
and the person that has already purchase the weapon, to make sure that it is legal, that they are legal and 
that the paperwork has been processed accordingly.   
 
Mr. Kim:  Is there any question for the applicant? 
 
Mr. Davis:  You indicated you had gone to the home owners.  Is that the Home Owners Association? 
 
Mr. Deyo:  Yes, Sir.  That is part of my package.  I submitted that.  I went before the Board of Directors 
of Aquia Harbour.  I am also 100 percent retired, disabled vet, so I do have a background on firearms. 
 
Mr. Poss:  Just to clarify your statement, you said that you’re not going to be selling firearms at all. 
 
Mr. Deyo:  That is affirmative. 
 
Mr. Poss:  So there are no internet sales, no… 
 
Mr. Deyo:  No, Sir, there is not. 
 
Mr. Poss:  Just transfer. 
 
Mr. Deyo:  Strictly transfer only.  The only thing that I would sell would be locks for a firearm to prevent 
someone from doing something silly, or dummy bullets that you can put in the gun, once again, as a 
prevention.  That’s the only thing that I will sell.  I will not be buying weapons. 
 
Mr. Poss:  Okay, thank you. 
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Mr. Deyo:  I don’t have any place to put it anyway. 
 
Mr. Kim:  I have a question.  Are you, minus the dummy bullets and the safety lock mechanism, do you 
plan to sell ammunition? 
 
Mr. Deyo:  No, Sir. 
 
Mr. Kim:  No ammunition, no pepper spray, no Taser.  
 
Mr. Deyo:  No.  I do not have a, what I would consider adequate storage area for that. 
 
Mr. Kim:  So latterly, it’s a strictly… 
 
Mr. Deyo:  Strictly a transfer. 
 
Mr. Kim:  And then you will have all the safety like dummy bullets and… 
 
Mr. Deyo:  That is correct. 
 
Mr. Kim:  Okay.  Thank you. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  Sir, it’s a bit of a…oh, I’m over this way…it’s a bit of a technicality, but it is an important 
one.  Retails sales are not permitted in certain areas of the County, in certain zoning locations, so when 
you say that you’re going to provide safety devices, would you do that over the internet?  How would 
somebody… 
 
Mr. Deyo:  No, no.  This is something…I would purchase, let’s say, 7 or 8 different types of safety locks.  
They would be maintained or kept on my premises.  I would also buy different caliber of dummy bullets.  
When someone comes to me to pick up their weapon, if I have something that matches what they have, I 
would offer to sell that to them.  Would you like to purchase a safety lock for that weapon? 
 
Mr. Apicella:  And I think – I have no problem with the safety lock – I think that’s a good thing.  The 
problem, again, we’re sort of in a box here about what we can authorize, and the way that you distribute 
or sell the product, again, you could be selling kites out of your house, it’s not permitted in this particular 
area, so the only way that we’ve been able to figure an out-clause, so the speak, that would allow someone 
to sell something out of their house, is over the internet.  So if you were going to sell it at the point where 
somebody comes in to your house and you say, hey, I can sell you this lock for 5 bucks – I don’t know 
how much a gun lock costs – that would be outside the definition of what’s allowable.  So what I’m 
saying is, it’s great that you’re going to offer that as a product, but the way that you sell it to the customer 
may not be in compliance with the requirements or the definition of what’s allowable within your 
particular zoning district, if you understand what I’m trying to say.   
 
Mr. Deyo:  I understand you fully. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  I’m not trying to dissuade you from doing it.  My concern would be how you do it, so we 
stay in compliance with the requirements. 
 
Mr. Deyo:  If I’m not in compliance then I wouldn’t do it. 
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Mr. Apicella:  I’m not suggesting you don’t do it, I’m just saying… 
 
Mr. Deyo:  It was something that I wanted to offer.  My primary purpose, my primary goal is to just be a 
conduit.  I thought, in my own, from a business perspective, that if I could offer those other 
categories…I’m not selling anything.  When I say sell, I’m not advertising, I’m not going on an internet, I 
don’t have a website on the internet for any of this. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  Again, I’m not suggesting you don’t do it.  I’m suggesting if you still want to provide that 
opportunity to your customers, that you don’t do it at the point of sale at your house, that you do it in 
some other mechanism. 
 
Mr. Deyo:  Oh, okay. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  Otherwise we won’t be fulfilling the requirements of the current County Zoning Ordinance.  
 
Mr. Kim:  I have a question.  Would you have – good point, Mr. Apicella – the question that I have is, 
would you, I guess so we can be in compliance of the Ordinance that we have here in Stafford, would you 
be opposed to adding like an additional, like, when there’s a transfer, I mean, there’s usually a 30 / 35 
dollar fee that you would charge for the actual transfer. Is there a way you can add something like, you 
know, safety bullets or locks, so then we can kind of stay in scope of County Ordinance? 
 
Mr. Deyo:  Safety bullets you probably could.  Locks, because of the expense, I couldn’t give that away. 
 
Mr. Kim:  Oh no, I’m not saying give it away, but, I might be… 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  He could be offering two types of services, one without a lock, one with a lock. 
 
Mr. Kim:  That’s kind of what I’m suggesting.   
 
Mr. Deyo:  Yes, that could be done. 
 
Mr. Kim:  If you do it that way then it would not be an issue, saying that if you would normally charge 30 
dollars for the fee of being the FFL for the transfer, if you offer maybe 35 dollars.  I don’t know how 
much the locks cost, but if you, you know, you can say, with lock and fee 35 dollars.  That would 
alleviate the… 
 
Mr. Deyo:  Yes, that could be done.  Yes, Sir. 
 
Mr. Kim:  Would you have any issues with that? 
 
Mr. Deyo:  No. 
 
Mr. Kim:  Okay. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  In your application you said for your hours of operation you had 1 PM through 6 PM, 
Monday through Friday and you said a half day on Saturday and closed on Sunday.  Could you give me 
your half day hours? 
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Mr. Deyo:  A half day would be 12 to 6 in the afternoon. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  On Saturday?  12 to 6? 
 
Mr. Deyo:  Yes, Sir. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  Okay, that’s fine.  My other question was similar to the question I asked the previous 
applicant about a time…because things change and so, again, I’d like to limit to know that in a certain 
number of years…maybe the business model has changed, rules changed, that we’d have an opportunity 
to maybe look at this again.  Would 5 years, or 8 years be a length of time for you to do this? 
 
Mr. Deyo:  I’m 67.  I’d like to have at least 8 years to go and then you can review it.  By then I’ll be in a 
wheel chair. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  Alright.  Thank you.  Thank you. 
 
Dr. Ackermann:  May I ask a…Sir?  Question.  Over here.  Hi.  So do you have…I’m looking at the 
suggested development conditions that, I guess, you’ve seen perhaps? 
 
Mr. Deyo:  Yes, Sir, I did. 
 
Dr. Ackermann:  And one is “The applicant must have a safe or secured container for his or her 
weapons”.  Do you have that? 
 
Mr. Deyo:  Yes, Sir, I do. 
 
Dr. Ackermann:  I mean you said you couldn’t store a lot of weapons, but you have enough to… 
 
Mr. Deyo:  I just recently purchased a very solid case that’s been locked up against the wall.  I had bolts 
installed on the doors in the area where it’s located.  I did this because one of the prerequisites for the 
ATF, is to have that on premises prior to even starting to do this.  So yes I do. 
 
Dr. Ackermann:  Great and one of the conditions that I hope we can change soon, but it says “discharging 
of firearms on site shall be prohibited by customers”.  I think when we did this the last time we just 
changed that to “discharging of firearms on site is prohibited”, so there’s no discharge of firearms on site. 
 
Mr. Deyo:  I would never allow that in my house. 
 
Dr. Ackermann:  Okay, thank you. 
 
Mr. Kim:  Have you had a chance to read our suggested development conditions? 
 
Mr. Deyo:  Yes, Sir, I did. 
 
Mr. Kim:  Okay, and so if we took out, I mean, can you explain on the professionally monitored security 
system?  Is it like an ADT?  Can you elaborate a little more on your… 
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Mr. Deyo:  Well, the security system that I have, you can’t even get into the Harbour, unless we allow you 
in there.  So that’s for starters.  So other than that, the only security system I have is, I dead bolted the 
locks in to the area.  I turned my garage into an office, so that’s been secured with dead bolts, a new door, 
locks on the windows, etc.  That’s the only security I have on it at this time and the gun cabinet that I have 
is solid steel, two separate doors, keys to each door.  You can’t the same key for any door. 
 
Mr. Kim:  Is it bolted? 
 
Mr. Deyo:  It’s bolted. 
 
Mr. Kim:  On the cement, or… 
 
Mr. Deyo:  It’s bolted into the brick. 
 
Mr. Kim:  Into the brick?  But then, since you won’t be selling, we can take out the ammunition must be 
stored…We can take out the ammunition. 
 
Mr. Deyo:  There is no ammunition. 
 
Mr. Kim:  There is no ammunition, so we can take 10 out. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  Mr. Chairman, before we go there, I’m going back to your previous question, the 
professionally monitored security system.  And we’ve had conversations about this the last several times 
this has come up and certainly within my perspective I have a professionally secured system, ADT, I 
think that’s the kind of thing we’re thinking about with this language, so I think we need to make clear, 
unless my fellow BZA members differ, that when we say professionally monitored system we’re thinking 
of something along those lines. 
 
Mr. Kim:  Like ADT. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  Not a specific vendor, but a vendor that has a call system when the alarm gets tripped that 
the police are called and not just, you know, some home thing that people sometimes do, but a service that 
provides professional security beyond just what might be at the entrance of Aquia Harbour.  Again, that’s 
my vantage point when I read that, so I just want to be clear to the applicant, that that’s what I’m thinking.  
I thought that’s what the rest of my fellow BZA members were thinking. 
 
Mr. Kim:  I’m kind of leaning towards the same way.  Is there a clear definition of monitored security 
system through the ATF, Melody? 
 
Ms. Musante:  I’m not sure if they have a definition for that or not.   
 
Mr. Apicella:  I don’t think it really, for the purposes of what we’re doing here, a special exception, it’s 
not what the ATF wants, it’s what the County wants, so we’re stipulating the conditions that we think are 
appropriate beyond Federal, State or Local requirements.  So we’re establishing this as a specific 
condition.  We’ve talked about it.  I believe we were under the uniform view that it was something like an 
ADT.  Again, it doesn’t have to be ADT, but there’s plenty like that, so I don’t think the ATF rules 
dictated what that really means for us.  So the question is, what is a professionally monitored security 
system?  I think we’ve gone to establish it over several discussions about these kind of applications.   
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Mr. Kim:  Would the applicant be completely opposed to hiring, not ADT, but another company like 
ADT, to monitor when something happens the local authorities will be called? 
 
Mr. Deyo:  If I had to, yes, I would. 
 
Mr. Kim:  I think that…my reading of it is maintained professionally monitored security system, even 
though I think, in my opinion and the bolt and everything is good, but I think having something that 
would be actually monitored if something…you know, even if it’s just around the garage, even if 
it’s…you know…I don’t know any other security systems but ADT, but I think I would agree with you to 
adding that stipulation that there actually be a monitored security system to the house, that someone 
actually monitors it 24/7 if there’s an alarm that triggers it. 
 
Mr. Deyo:  In reality it would be safer for me too. 
 
Mr. Kim:  What’s that? 
 
Mr. Deyo:  I would be safer for me too, so that would give me a piece of mind also. 
 
Mr. Kim:  Yes, it’s a nice tax write-off.  Okay. Does that satisfy your… 
 
Mr. Apicella:  I just want to be sure that we’re on the same page, because we’re going to get more of these 
applications and not for me, but for the applicants themselves, if the County went and inspected the site 
and they found that it didn’t have a professionally monitored security system in terms of what we think it 
should be, then they would be out of compliance and the special exception could be taken away, so I just 
want to be clear we’re all on the same page, especially the applicant, about what that really means.  I’m 
glad you brought up the question, because I didn’t even think there was any difference of opinion.  So 
now we know that there might be. 
 
Mr. Kim:  So we’re clear with the professionally monitored security system and I thank you for bringing 
it up too.  So we are on the same page.   
 
Ms. Musante:  Mr. Chair, would you like me to read the development conditions, so we’re all clear with 
the addition of the expiration date? 
 
Mr. Kim:  That would be great. 
 
Ms. Musante:  Days and hours of operation:  Monday through Friday 1:00 PM to 6:00 PM, 12:00 PM to 
6:00 PM on Saturday and closed Sunday.  Provide 6 off-street parking spaces for clients.  Customers by 
appointment only.  The applicant must have a safe or secured container for his or her weapons.  The 
business cannot engage in the retail sales of merchandise on the premises, meaning merchandise must be 
paid for online.  Firearms can only be purchased by special order.  Applicant must maintain professionally 
monitored security system.  No sign.  Discharging of firearms on site shall be prohibited. We are 
removing number 10.  Special exception expires eight (8) years from date of this approval.  Must comply 
with all State, Federal, and local codes and regulations.  This approval may be revoked for noncompliance 
of the conditions imposed by the Board of Zoning Appeals. 
 
Mr. Grimes:  I’d like to offer that we not remove number 10, but modify it, that ammunition shall not be 
stored on site.  If we remove the development condition, it could allow for ammunition to be stored, 
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because there is no development condition prohibiting it and I think we missed adding the time limit.  Did 
I miss that? 
 
Mr. Kim:  No, no, that’s 12 to 6. 
 
Mr. Grimes:  No, I mean for expiration. 
 
Mr. Kim:  Yes, 8 years.  So you want to add no ammunition? 
 
Mr. Grimes:  I think we would modify number 10 to be “Ammunition shall not be stored on site”. 
 
Mr. Kim:  I could agree.  Can we add that to number 10? 
 
Mr. Apicella:  Again, this is maybe semantics, but I thought I heard the applicant say, that they were 
going to be selling, in some way shape or form, dummy ammunition, so do we want to change it to life 
ammunition?  I don’t know if there’s a distinction or not, but I don’t want to preclude him from being able 
to… 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  Is dummy ammunition ammunition?   
 
Mr. Kim:  The applicant is pretty clear that you won’t actually have sales transactions at the property.  
You’ll just have… 
 
Mr. Deyo:  I’m not selling anything other than what I mentioned, which would be the plastic bullets, 
which has nothing in it, and maybe the locks. 
 
Mr. Kim:  Those are all, I think, great and every gun owner should have.  The issue that might arise is the 
actual Ordinance prohibits any kind of sales, retails sales.  And that would be considered retail sales.  
Even if you’re selling locks to dummy ammunition.  So, as it states in number 5 of the suggested 
development conditions.  It says that the business cannot engage in the retail sales of merchandise on the 
premises, which the dummy ammunition and the locks would be considered retail, meaning, merchandise, 
must be paid online.  So you can have three sections.  One with if you don’t want to buy anything, just the 
FFL transfer fee.  You can do that online.  And then 2) FFL fee with dummy ammunition or 3)…or 
however you want to put it, it has to be done online.  You can’t have any actual exchange of funds at the 
house.  That’s the issue with the Ordinance that we’re bringing up here. 
 
Mr. Deyo:  I understand that and at this point I don’t have to do that, so as far as the ammunition and the 
locks I will go without it. 
 
Mr. Kim:  Okay. 
 
Mr. Deyo:  This is just something that I was looking at doing.  I haven’t ordered anything.  The only thing 
that I’ve purchased so far is the gun cabinet. 
 
Mr. Kim:  Well I don’t want to prohibit you from doing anything that is within the Ordinance. 
 
Mr. Deyo:  If I do it I will definitely do it via the internet, but not on a one to one basis.  
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Mr. Kim:  Yes, as long as there’s no actual exchange of any kind of funds, then you would be in 
compliance.  If not, then you would not.  I mean it doesn’t matter what it is, it’s still… 
 
Mr. Deyo:  And I can do that through a website, so that’s not an issue. 
 
Mr. Kim:  Yes, that would be perfect.  Great.  Thank you. 
 
Ms. Musante:  Mr. Chair, could you please clarify number 10 for me please? 
 
Mr. Kim:  Okay.  No ammunition will be stored on site, would be the clarification on number 10.  So, 
instead of just taking “ammunition must be stored in cans no more than 5,000 rounds” we’re adding the 
“no ammunition stored on site at all”.  Do we have any motions for approval or denial?  Oh, I’m sorry, I 
haven’t done that.  Any members of the public wish to speak in support of the application?  Please come 
forward.  Any members of the public, who wishes to speak in opposition, please come forward.  We will 
now close the public hearing for the application and bring the matter to the Board for motions and 
decisions.   
 
Mr. Grimes:  Mr. Vice-Chair, I would move to approve the special exception for SE14-04/1400161 with 
the modified suggested development conditions as previously noted. 
 
Mr. Poss:  Second. 
 
Mr. Kim:  Okay, I have a motion made by Mr. Robert Grimes and seconded by Mr. Gregory Poss. 
 
Dr. Ackermann:  May I make a comment. 
 
Mr. Kim:  Oh yes. 
 
Dr. Ackermann:  I just want to say that I support the motion and I think this is very similar to what we’ve 
done in the past and I think this is quite in concert with the stuff we’ve done.  That’s why I support the 
motion. 
 
Mr. Kim:  Thank you.  I have a motion made by Mr. Robert Grimes and seconded by Gregory Poss to 
approve for special exceptions with the change in our suggested development conditions in the case 
SE14-04/1400161 and all those in favor say aye. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  Aye. 
 
Mr. Grimes:  Aye. 
 
Mr. Davis:  Aye. 
 
Mr. Poss:  Aye. 
 
Dr. Ackermann:  Aye. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  Aye. 
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Mr. Kim:  All those opposed?  Aye for me too.  Let the records reflect that the motion is approved by 7 of 
7.  Will the secretary please read the third case? 
 
3. SE14-05/1400164 – Jothan Watkins - Requests a Special Exception per Stafford County Code, 

Section 28-35, Table 3.1 "District Uses & Standards," A-1, Agricultural, to allow firearm shows, 
internet/mail order sales and government sales as a Rural Home Business on Assessor's Parcel 
36C-5.  The property is zoned A-1, Agricultural, 525 Poplar Road, Majestic Ridge Estates. 

 
Ms. Musante:  You have the application, the application affidavit, plat of the property, diagram of the area 
for the business and the rural home business standards.  The applicant is requesting a Special Exception to 
conduct firearm transfer services, trade shows and internet sales as a rural home business.  A firearm 
transfer service is a method of transferring a weapon from the seller to the buyer through an intermediary 
firearms dealer.  This service is used most often when a weapon sale crosses state lines.  The weapon is 
purchased and sent by the seller to the local FFL.  The local FFL completes the transaction paperwork, 
verifies the identification of the buyer and hands over the firearm.  The applicant has stated that the 
transfers will by appointment only during the days and hours of Monday through Friday from 9:00 AM to 
9:00 PM, Saturday and Sunday 9:00 AM to 9:00 PM.  The applicant has also indicated that he will 
provide four (4) off-street parking spaces and anticipates five (5) customers per week.  All firearms and 
supplies will be securely stored inside the premises.  Rural Home Business standards allow for 25% of the 
gross floor area to be utilized for the business.  The applicant has indicated 225 square feet will be used 
for the business which meets this requirement as the gross floor area of the dwelling is 5,100 square feet.   
 
Mr. Kim:  Any questions for staff? 
 
Mr. Apicella:  Mr. Chairman, I do have a couple of questions.  I’m just trying to understand the 
terminology.  I see a couple of terms that I haven’t seen in a couple of the other previous applications, 
similar applications.  So from a County perspective what does firearm shows mean? 
 
Ms. Musante:  Like the gun shows when you go to like the expo center, you have all of the local gun 
people or even out of state gun dealers, go to these shows, set up their merchandise and sell there. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  And does that term comport with what is or is not allowable under the County Ordinance?   
 
Ms. Musante:  Because they’re not doing the actual sale from the home.  They’re taking their merchandise 
to another site and selling it off site. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  Okay, so, again, what I’m trying to understand for clarification, would several people show 
up at the residents house to, there’s 10 guns sitting on the table, is that what’s envisioned under the term 
firearm…I’m just not sure why that’s here, because we’re talking about what’s going to happen at the 
person’s residence versus what’s going to happen off site, which is not something, really, we would be 
weighing in on. 
 
Ms. Musante:  You may have to ask the applicant that question, because the information that is included 
in the staff report is based off of information that we have received from the applicant. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  Okay. 
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Ms. Musante:  We would not, as far as the Zoning Ordinance, would not allow for 7 people to show up at 
someone’s home and purchase firearms. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  And in terms of Government sales, do we know what that means? 
 
Ms. Musante:  I do not. 
 
Mr. Kim:  Yes, I was going to ask that too.  Are you done? 
 
Mr. Apicella:  Did you have any discussions with the applicant about the hours of operation? 9 PM seems 
a little late to me, but I will ask the applicant the same thing. 
 
Ms. Musante:  Right, you, you know, as the BZA can impose any conditions you see. 
 
Mr. Kim:  I have a question for staff.  It says, in the special exemption description, there is this part where 
it says ATF has already reviewed, accepted and approved a federal firearm license for Mr. Watkins, 
pending the Stafford County Zoning Commission approval.  Can you…I thought that the approval 
couldn’t happen until…I mean, it’s just more wording or it just kind of caught my eye to the point where I 
don’t understand how the ATF could approve it if we have not heard… 
 
Ms. Musante:  I did check that.  Susan Furtada, which you all have met before, is one of our local ATF 
agents, but they do have a database that they check.  She did tell me that he applied for a federal firearms 
license last year, but withdrew it, because he could not, at that time, go through this process and we did go 
through that last winter, I can’t remember that far back, but he did withdraw his application to you all 
because of maybe an HOA issue, but they did not have a current FFL application from him. 
 
Mr. Kim:  So it was not accepted and approved by the ATF? 
 
Ms. Musante:  Not currently, no.  I’m not sure about the previous one, but not this one. 
 
Mr. Kim:  Okay, great.  Thank you.  Okay.  Would the applicant please come forward to present their 
case? 
 
Mr. Watkins:  Yes, Sir.  My name is Jothan Watkins.  I’m here to apply for either a special exception for 
agricultural 1 zoning for rural home business or for the right for agricultural zone 1 for home based 
business and there is some confusion as to why that’s come about.  To address some of your questions 
first of, some issues I want to be able to clarify here is first, to present my case a little background of what 
I plan to do.  I want to be able to address the issue of, the interpretation of retail sales and its application 
to zoning law.  And also to address the issue of imposing certain storage quantities of ammunitions, 
contrary to regulation and laws and what the law says about the storage and handling of the ammunitions.  
First, I’ve been trying to acquire my ATF federal firearms license the past year and a half.  I started it 
basically, because I have a 19 year old son who needs something to do and I was thinking a home 
business where we can go to gun shows as a father son and as a hobby too.  Work together selling some 
guns and supplies, oh why not, at gun shows.  If you ever heard of them, they happen quite frequently 
throughout the area in Fredericksburg Exposition.  They go to the Exposition Centers.  Various 
contractors come in with supplies of weapons and various stuff to sell to the general public.  At these 
shows is the only place where they can sell them, because they are ATF FFL certified for the gun shows.  
The reason I have to come to the Board here is because the ATF requires that any sales that I do over the 
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internet, the transfer of the weapon has to happen in person.  That’s the regulation for the ATF.  And the 
premises of that transfer have to be licensed for the federal firearms license.  So in this case, that would be 
my home.  So in order to obtain the ATF federal firearms license to engage in any kind of firearm sales, I 
have to obtain a license and my home place would be the place for that.  Incidental to that is the transfer 
of firearms.  Should I encounter any internet sales locally to where an individual needs to use the FFL 
station as others have claimed to be and then those services would be available.  They could come on an 
appointment basis after I receive their particular purchased firearm to administer the necessary 
background checks and the transfer of the firearm.  The government sales portion is just that I…I’ve been 
in the government’s contracts business for 25 years and so I thought it’d be a good hobby to start my own 
business and selling certain commodities and supplies to the government.  Most of those government 
transactions are taking place electronically.  You know, the government advertises their bids online on the 
internet and vendors from all around the world are able to post and place bids for those, receive contracts 
and purchase orders and fulfill them.  And that’s pretty much it for government sales.  That’s basically all 
I really wanted to do, was to get involved in doing this and starting my home business.  I first lived in the 
Hampton Oaks area.  I did file for an ATF application.  I was, after some security vetting, I was approved.  
Then they mentioned that I needed to make sure that I was in compliance with the local zoning ordinance.  
I said okay, I’ll check that out.  So I found out that I needed to process a special exception for my, well in 
this case, it was a residential one, zoning subdivision.  And for that process I went through the special 
exceptions process and everything was panned out, and I had all approval going through, then somebody 
mentioned to me about the HOA, might have something to say about it.  So I checked into the HOA and it 
turns out this particular HOA forbids any kind of home business whatsoever.  So at that time I decided I 
had to withdraw my application for the special exceptions and my application for the FFL until I found 
other means to acquire it.  That was in October, November of this past year.  And since that time I was 
pursuing to find another home zoned properly to have a home based business by-right and that would be 
the zoning A-1.  And I found a home that is zoned A-1 and it has no HOA provisions attached to it.  So 
I’m thinking this is a good deal for me.  And so I purchased this home and I moved in and I’ve lived in it 
for now the past month and a half.  And now I’m reapplying for my FFL and I have some contacts at the 
ATF now and talked to them, and they said, well you can’t just reopen your previous application, you 
have to reapply all together.  And they said this time they’ve had lots of issues with the zoning 
ordinances.  They’re requiring that FFL applicants have a zoning approval before the FFL application.  So 
I said, okay that’s fine.  So I have…that’s why I’m here.  To make sure I get either a confirmation that I 
have the right for home based business since it’s zoned A-1, or I get approved for the rural home based 
business for zone A-1 which alleviates all the retail sales and allows me up to 3 employees and extra 
facilities and outdoor storage.  So that’s pretty much the story what brings us here today.  I’d like to 
address the issue on the retail sales.  I’ve done extensive research into its definition of various zoning 
ordinances across the nation and in the state of Virginia and it seem that Stafford County is out of the 
norm.  Most places define retail sales, they even define it as it relates to land use, which is what the 
zoning office is for, for land use.  And in that case, retails sales for land use would be the principal 
purpose of the property and in a home based business the principal purpose is it’s a home.  I mean, 
someone must live there as a residence and anything secondary to that is secondary.  So if I live in a 
home, I can have a retail sales business, but it’s not retail sales, it’s a home business.  A lot of places 
define retails sales as being a location where there’s tremendous amounts of foot traffic where we can 
have signs available to attract attention, where we can have displays up in our windows of various 
merchandises and have people come in and out to our homes at will.  That’s how a lot of people define 
retail sales as land use.  Even the very ordinance of Stafford County defines that in what’s called 
commercial use as the traffic perimeters for that.  But we’re not here to debate the ins and outs of retails 
sales.  I just wanted to raise the awareness that there are some egregious and erroneous interpretations and 
I have found various sources that might help.  We have regular home based business for the 21st century.  
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This is a document put out by the American Planning Association that helps define that.  There is the 
Zoning and Planning law handbook that helps define this and then there are many agencies also adopt the 
latest book of development definitions which helps to find various uses of retail sales, commercial sales, 
commercial use and their land uses.  And then there was also another article put out by the home based 
business and government regulation put out by the small business administration that talks about the 
purpose of home based business and how vitally important they are to our economy. 
 
Mr. Kim:  Mr. Watkins, your time is up here.  
 
Mr. Watkins:  Oh dear. 
 
Mr. Kim:  Sorry, I should have…little light there, green, yellow and red.   
 
Mr. Watkins:  Can I get 5 more minutes. 
 
Mr. Kim:  I leave it up to the Board.  Did you want to give 5 more minutes? 
 
Mr. Davis:  I think 3 minutes is sufficient if he focuses on the issues. 
 
Mr. Kim:  Okay, yes, if…and here’s the other thing, you’re presenting a lot of different material and if 
this is something you want to hand over to us for review before. 
 
Mr. Watkins:  I have research that I wanted to present, but I don’t have the time to do that. 
 
Mr. Kim:  That’s, yes, we’re following the rules, you know, our rules of our governing body, so… 
 
Mr. Watkins:  I just want to raise your awareness that there are things out there and maybe we should 
come back to this in a deliberation form.   
 
Mr. Kim:  Do you have any handouts for us, or did you…I mean; did you have some inserts that you may 
want to present to us?  Because I could agree with the 3 minutes…yes, well that’s going to be, I mean, 
we’ll just have to, in a case like this, with all that information, we would need to defer and maybe come 
back at a later time, if you want to present a little more.  If you would like to proceed, we can proceed 
without that information, simply because… 
 
Mr. Watkins:  I’m not here to debate the ins and outs of retail sales.  We can defer that for another time in 
a more appropriate form. 
 
Mr. Kim:  Like I said…I mean…this is…as I read before, it’s up to you, if you want to defer your case 
until further time. 
 
Mr. Watkins:  No, we don’t need to defer my case. 
 
Mr. Kim:  Okay, then if those books you presented to us isn’t…I mean, we just don’t have time to look at 
it, so we’ll give you 3 additional minutes.  If you can put 3 additional minutes on the clock.  Thank you. 
 
Mr. Watkins:  Virginia State Law requires that the Zoning Ordinances at least every 5 years.  I’ve looked 
at the County Zoning Ordinances and it shows the effective date of 1995.  That tells me that may not have 
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been reviewed and revised since that date, which is far beyond 5.  So I’m just raising awareness that 
maybe the Ordinance need to be reviewed and revised as necessary to meet the conditions of our current 
economy.  Let me jump to the issue of the ammunitions.  There are no federal regulations that regulate the 
quantity of ammunitions stored in anyone’s home or anyone’s business.  And the regulations that are out 
there are quite contrary.  The Virginia Law has adopted various fire and protection codes and one of those 
codes being the national fire prevention association and that’s even written into the Virginia State Code 
and Chapter 14 of the Code 495, small arms and ammunitions, it says: no restrictions shall be imposed on 
transportation of small arms ammunition, other than those imposed by the US Department of 
Transportation.  No quantity limitation shall be imposed on the storage of small arms and ammunitions in 
warehouses, retail stores and other occupancies, other than those imposed by the limitations of the storage 
facility itself and by public safety regulations and I think that should pretty much answer the question as 
far as the Board trying to place limitations on ammunitions.  I feel the Board just simply doesn’t have that 
authority.  And I can go on and on about the various, non-hazardous threats of ammunitions being stored 
in the home.  That has been debunked and proven by many fire marshals and government agencies around 
and with 20 seconds left that would be…I close my case and give it to you.  Any questions? 
 
Mr. Kim:  Any questions for the applicant? 
 
Mr. Davis:  I would like to comment.  We don’t make the laws, the rules and regulations.  We only ensure 
that they are carried out. 
 
Mr. Watkins:  That’s correct. 
 
Mr. Davis:  So you’re talking to the wrong agency, the wrong group of people when you want to change 
the Code.  You need to talk to the Board of Supervisors.   
 
Mr. Watkins:  And I will.  I suspected that the Board of Supervisors is represented here by this Board as 
well. 
 
Mr. Kim:  Just to clarify, also, we, as you stated before that, right before the power went out, what were 
you reading from, what code, what book were you reading from?  Was that a federal, I mean I’m not sure 
what material, what reference you were using for that information. 
 
Mr. Watkins:  Well, I have lots of references here… 
 
Mr. Kim:  No, no, no.  Specifically just to that last one where you said… 
 
Mr. Watkins:  Stafford County and State of Virginia’s fire code. 
 
Mr. Kim:  No, it wasn’t.  You were saying that no one can put limitation, because we are a quasi-judicial 
Board here, so… 
 
Mr. Watkins:  And that has adopted the Codes of the National Fire Protection Agency, Sec 495, Chapter 
14 – the small ammunitions. 
 
Mr. Kim:  But if we weren’t relevant, then the ATF wouldn’t tell you that you need our approval before 
you get an ATF license, is what I’m telling you. 
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Mr. Watkins:  I need your approval as far as land use. 
 
Mr. Kim:  Well, yes, once again, if we… 
 
Mr. Watkins:  Ammunition, storage and handling has nothing to do with land use. 
 
Mr. Kim:  Well, it does, because if we don’t grant you this special exception, you don’t get the ATF, so it 
absolutely does. 
 
Mr. Watkins:  Well, I have also the right for a home based business. 
 
Mr. Kim:  No one said you didn’t have the right.  No one ever said that.  I’m sorry, you’ve been up here 
for the last 13 minutes telling us that we’re irrelevant, we shouldn’t do this to you and what we’re trying 
to understand is, as a Board here, what we try to do is, is we try to ensure safety of the community.  That’s 
what we’re here for and we’re quasi-judicial that’s why the Zoning Administrator actually goes off of 
Code, so I’m pretty confident, I mean, we have excellent staff, and I’m really confident on how they 
conduct business every day.  We’re the Board that is allowed to give these special exceptions, so we 
would be relevant, because if we don’t…if it’s not Code is why you’re here then we would, you know, I 
mean, if we denied those, you would not get an FFL from the ATF, so we are relevant.  Okay? 
 
Mr. Watkins:  I understand that. 
 
Mr. Kim:  Thank you.  Any more questions? 
 
Mr. Apicella:  I just want to; again, we’ve already approved several firearm transfer applications.  I think 
we’re probably up to 4 or 5 by now.  So I got stuck on the firearm shows and maybe that’s not what you 
had intended when you wrote your application.  I appreciate that there are firearms show that happen at 
Central Park, I’ve even been to one.  My concern was, the way it’s written, it says to allow firearm shows, 
internet sales and government sales as a rural home business.  So I mean, the way it’s written, it sound 
like you’re going to have firearm shows at your house, which I don’t think is permissible, and that’s why I 
wanted clarification from staff and clarification amongst the BZA members so that we’re not authorizing 
something that I don’t think we can authorize.  I don’t disagree with you, you have the right to sell to the 
government, as does anybody, but we still are bound by the rules that the County establishes.  You can 
certainly disagree with them and I would recommend that you talk to your Supervisor, Gary Snellings.  
He can certainly seek to have it changed to the way that County Code is defined.  In fact, I’m on the 
Planning Commission and we are starting to take a look at the Zoning Ordinance.  Late as you have 
mentioned, but it’s a monumental task, believe me.  So, again, one of the conditions, and I just want to 
make sure you’re aware of it, assuming the application gets approved, again, stipulates that there are no 
retails sales as part of a rural home business.  That would be true whether it’s firearms or whether it’s 
vacuum cleaners or kites or whatever.  We’re not allowed to…it’s beyond our authority to grant 
permission to allow an applicant to have retail sales at their home, it’s just not…can’t do it.  So I just want 
to, maybe it’s not so much of a question, but a clarification. I want to see if you understand where we’re 
coming from.  I understand and appreciate where you’re coming from and you don’t have to like it.  
That’s the way the County does business.  It is what it is, unfortunately, given today’s date and you’re 
coming forward with an application and seeking to get a firearms transfer business established at your 
house.  So, again, it’s more of a comment than anything else.  I do have a concern and I just wanted to ask 
you about the 9 PM time frame.  For any activity at somebody’s house, that seems a little late to me.  Are 
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you a little flexible on the time frame?  I don’t think we’ve granted one to that time frame at night. 5 or 6 
o’clock seems probably the latest to me that would be reasonable.  Are you amenable to… 
 
Mr. Watkins:  Again, are you trying to regulate the actual business activity or are you trying to regulate 
land use? 
 
Mr. Apicella:  Sir, we have the ability to establish conditions.  You’re seeking a special exception.  The 
way that the County Code Ordinance reads, we, as a body, can establish conditions.  You might want to 
sell until 3 o’clock in the morning.  I think that’s unreasonable.  I think your neighbors would think that’s 
unreasonable.  Even if it’s one customer coming to your house at 3 o’clock in the morning, I don’t think 
that’s right, from a neighbor’s perspective.  We’re not just looking out for you, we’re looking out for the 
immediate neighbors and the community as a whole and trying to make sure that there’s not chaos in the 
way that we implement our laws. 
 
Mr. Watkins:  Exactly, that’s why I have a home in zone A-1 with 3 and a half acres. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  Right and so if you want to have this business, then you have to abide by the conditions 
that are set.  If you don’t like those conditions and you don’t abide by them, then the special exception 
gets taken away.  That’s just the way the process works. Governments regulate businesses all the time.  If 
you had a business out on Garrisonville Road, you would be subject to potentially conditions.  And so it’s 
the same thing here.  You want to have an activity at your house.  People live at their house.  The county 
doesn’t want people to have retail business at their house, number 1, and they regulate when people even 
within the context of a home business that’s permissible, may regulate the time by which you can have 
operating hours.  So I’m just asking you, are you flexible on the time frame?  9 o’clock to me seems like, 
I get the sense from some other people that that might be a little late.  You know, if you don’t like it and 
that’s the condition that we set, if we set a time and you don’t abide by it, then they can take the special 
exception away.  So I’m trying to avoid a problem for you down the road by agreeing to a time that you 
think is reasonable and appropriate. 
 
Mr. Watkins:  I just want a time that’s convenient for the customers to be able to do their business after 
work hours.   
 
Mr. Kim:  I think the question he’s asking are you up to for us modifying any of the suggested 
development conditions and abiding by them.  Basically what we would do is, if you want to state it at 
this, we vote it as is to approve or deny this special exception and of course it’s your right to appeal to the 
Circuit Court, so it’s… 
 
Mr. Watkins:  I don’t think that I’ve proposed is unreasonable. 
 
Mr. Kim:  Well, what you think is different from what we’re thinking and like Mr. Apicella said, what 
we’re trying to do is, it’s just not about you.  You said you have 3 acres, but you still have neighbors.  I 
mean there’s…the reason why you’re here, I mean, this is… 
 
Mr. Watkins:  And what is the impact to my neighbors if anybody’s visiting at 8/9 o’clock? 
 
Mr. Kim:  Or even the safety, yes.  I don’t know if you’ve ever opened a business, but there’s way more 
than the 12 suggestions we have made when you open any type of business, which is, once again, our 
right to open business as it is your right, but as Mr. Apicella said, there is this body that could add those 
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suggestions of conditions.  If you’re not…and like I said, it’s completely up to you.  If you like we can go 
and vote on what we have here as your suggested development conditions and, you know, like I said, we 
could approve or we can deny and if it denies then you can appeal to Circuit Court.  If not, you can accept 
some of the changes and then we can vote from there.  Whatever you prefer.  
 
Mr. Watkins:  Are you proposing changes in times? 
 
Mr. Kim:  Yes. 
 
Mr. Watkins:  What?   
 
Mr. Kim:  What time would you like? 6? 
 
Mr. Apicella:  We just approved one.  I would say, let’s go with that time frame and see what the rest of 
the Board members think.  Melody, can you read of the hours of operation…for the previous firearms 
sales or transfers that we agreed to? 
 
Ms. Musante:  Days and hours of operation Monday through Friday 1 PM to 6 PM, 12 PM to 6 PM on 
Saturday and closed on Sunday. 
 
Mr. Kim:  I could suggest a 9 to 6 or 9 to5, make an 8 hour. 
 
Mr. Watkins:  Well, my concern with that is, I have a day job where I don’t get home till usually 5 / 5:30 
and so my point is, this is going to be a hobby to begin with until the business takes off.  That’s why my 
hobby hours would be from like 5 to 9 PM. 
 
Mr. Kim:  Board, what do you guys. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  I have to throw that back at Mr. Davis.  It’s in his district.  I don’t know if he has any sense 
of what he would prefer. 
 
Mr. Davis:  You indicated you were doing this for your 19 year old to have something to do. 
 
Mr. Watkins:  That’s one of the reasons, yes.  That’s not the sole reason, but that’s one of the reasons. 
 
Mr. Davis:  Are they allowed to conduct business for the ATF? 
 
Mr. Watkins:  Absolutely.  Any employee I have can act under my license.  
 
Mr. Davis:  No age restrictions? 
 
Mr. Watkins:  Well, he’s 19.  He’s over 18.  You have to be over 18. 
 
Mr. Davis:  Thank you.  I’m kind of stuck with 9 to 6.   
 
Mr. Ingalls:  Well, I think we go ahead and finish this hearing and then we can bring it back to the Board 
and we can discuss the conditions and whatever conditions we come up with is the ones we vote on. 
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Mr. Kim:  I do have one more question.  You said most of the sales would be online.  What would not be 
online? 
 
Mr. Watkins:  Well, ideally I would like to be able to exchange when a person come to transfer a weapon 
to say, hey, do you need a cleaning kit for that, do you need a holster for that?  You’re saying I can’t 
conduct business that way.  That seems illogical. 
 
Mr. Kim:  No, it’s not illogical.  It’s actually the Ordinance that your Board of Supervisors, the people 
that were elected in here, … 
 
Mr. Watkins:  Those few people have stated otherwise, but there’s a mass majority out there that also state 
otherwise. 
 
Mr. Kim:  Who is the mass majority? 
 
Mr. Watkins:  Many other Boards and County Boards and States… 
 
Mr. Kim:  Well, what’s relevant here is Stafford, right? 
 
Mr. Watkins:  Right. 
 
Mr. Kim:  So we can close this unless you have one more question.  We’ll close it for the applicant, but 
would any member of the public who wishes to speak in support please come forward.  Any member of 
the public who wishes to speak in opposition, please come forward.  Seeing none.  Okay, we will now 
close the public hearing for the application and bring the matter to the Board for motions and decisions.  
Mr. Davis, 9 to 6? 
 
Mr. Davis:  That’s my recommendation. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  Is that every day?  Any changes on the weekend? 
 
Mr. Kim:  I mean, I like to be somewhat flexible, but it just doesn’t seem our flexibility is going to be 
enough, so, I think 9 to 6 is a good time. Unless someone has any other suggestion on time. 
 
Mr. Grimes:  I have a question for Melody in reference to this, because we have had, this is number 5 or 
6.  Do we have any record of the business hours? 
 
Ms. Musante:  Not with me, but I could go check them. 
 
Mr. Grimes:  Because it’s only been the last two meetings that we’ve had this and I think we’ve had 
similar development conditions and I’d like to make sure that… 
 
Ms. Musante:  You want to take a 5 minute break?  I can get the conditions we set on the prior. 
 
Mr. Grimes:  I think that would be great if the rest of the Board members agree. 
 
Mr. Kim:  I agree. 
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Mr. Grimes:  And it would give us all a chance to take a 5 minute break. 
 
Mr. Kim:  Okay, 5 minute recess. 
 
RECESS 8:24 – 8:33 
 
Mr. Kim:  We were on hours.  If you can… 
 
Ms. Musante:  Yes, Mr. Chair, unfortunately due to the storm my computer has crashed, so I was only 
able to find one that we did and that was the very first one we did back in February.  Days and hours of 
operation Monday through Friday, 7 PM to 9 PM and Saturday 10 AM to 3 PM with no Sunday hours. 
 
Mr. Kim:  Okay, since we had approved a previous one, I’m inclined to stick with the, I’m sorry, what 
was it, the 9 AM to 9 PM, since we have, unless Mr. Davis or someone is opposed to it, keep it at 9, since 
we approved a previous one. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  Your saying to 9 PM at night? 
 
Mr. Kim:  Yes, that’s the one we approved before.  The first one we did this year, where actually the ATF, 
Ms. Furtado was actually there. 
 
Mr. Davis:  Is that 7 AM or PM? 
 
Ms. Musante:  PM.  7 PM to 9 PM. 
 
Mr. Kim:  Oh, 7 PM.  I’m sorry, oh that was 2 hours.  So would you be more inclined to do the 5 to 9?  
 
Mr. Grimes:  I think the concern expressed by some of the members is the time that it closes in the 
evening, not the start time.  I mean I don’t think there’s a concern with starting at 9 AM for the business 
operation, but staying open till 9.  And one of the reason that I believe that we had this discussion in the 
first case was something very similar, that this was a second business for the applicant and that they were 
trying to serve potential customers after they were home from their first job, which, given the commutes 
that we have, extended it to 9 PM.  One of the limiting factors was the number of customers that they 
expected to see and I think we placed, there was a condition on that, that they were to have no more than 
2.  Remember that?  
 
Ms. Musante:  Not on the one that you all approved in February. 
 
Mr. Grimes:  Okay.  I just remembered that we had a discussion about the number of transactions, the 
number of people that would be coming to the house during the day. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  12 hours a day, 7 days a week seems like an awful lot to me. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  Saturday Sunday hours? 
 
Ms. Musante:  On what he’s proposing or this one.   
 
Mr. Ingalls:  That one. 
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Ms. Musante:  Saturday 10 AM to 3 PM, no Sunday hours. 
 
Mr. Kim:  My opinion, since we approved something to 9, I feel that we should stick to the 9.  Unless the 
Board feels differently from how I feel. 
 
Mr. Davis:  I do.  I think the reason for the late hours on that was 7 PM to 9 PM.  12 hours a day is a bit 
much. 
 
Mr. Kim:  Would you be opposed to 5 to 9 or 6 to 9? 
 
Mr. Davis:  I would be opposed anything to 9. 
 
Mr. Kim:  You’d be opposed to anything to 9.  I guess we can…can we do a motion to…Can you provide 
a motion of what you’re suggesting time wise and we’ll take a vote on it to be… 
 
Mr. Davis:  I would suggest 9 AM to 6 PM and 9 AM to 6 PM, the same thing of Saturday, no Sunday 
hours. 
 
Mr. Kim:  No Sunday hours?  Do I hear a second?  Anyone else have any other suggestion?  Motions? 
 
Mr. Apicella:  Well, I’m the one who raised the late hours and I saw some concerns, but by the same 
token I can appreciate the applicants situation that his job may prohibit him from not taking advantage of 
his situation if we limited to 6 PM.  I think, if we knew what we knew now, maybe we might have 
handled the first one a little bit differently, but I can live with, you know, if he wants some flexibility in 
the evening hours, then let’s give him some flexibility there.  It sounds like he’s not going to be available 
in the morning, so maybe 3 to 8, just throwing something out there, on the weekdays and then going to 
maybe 9 AM to 6 PM on a Saturday and no Sunday hours.  Along those lines. 
 
Mr. Grimes:  I think while we’re debating this particular requirement, I really think the Board should be 
consistent in the way that we approach these special exceptions, considering it’s similar to others that we 
have reviewed in the past and to provide a limitation of hours for this particular business in this special 
exception, it just doesn’t seem to make a lot of sense and provide consistency from the Board and moving 
forward as a Board so that we establish these operating hours for these home based business that we 
should be consistent across all of them and I’m not sure where we’re making the departure from previous 
recommendations to go to 8 or to 6.  This is in a development, 3 acres property, very similar to the 
previously approved special exceptions where we had these operating hours, so I’d like to see us provide 
some consistency and maintain what we have in past recommendations.   
 
Mr. Apicella:  Again, kind of putting on my Planning Commissioner’s hat, my concern is, and I’ll kind of 
roger up what Mr. Davis said, somebody has a business, 9 to 9 every day, 7 days a week at their house, to 
me that’s not a home business.  That becomes a commercial enterprise.  I have no idea how much foot 
traffic they’re going to get.  The limitations are about square footage in the house, other than that, there 
are no limitations.  So somebody could sell, without any limitations, somebody could sell 25 guns a day 
or more at their home and it’s not about trying to restrict the home owner, it’s about, why do we have 
special exceptions, why do we have home businesses and why do we have commercial businesses.  So at 
what point you reach the threshold where you’re no longer a rural home business and you’re actually a 
commercial enterprise running some kind of operation outside of your house.  Again, I’m trying to think 
of why they’re not here and these things have been on the books for a long time, so even if we ask the 
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current Board of Supervisors what their thoughts are.  They certainly haven’t modified the definition of a 
rural home business or a rural business, so I believe that they don’t want those kind of enterprises to be 
more like commercial than they are a home business.  Hours of operation is one of those things that kind 
of distinguishes the two.  Yes, we’ve not been consistent, in part because we tried to be flexible with 
regard to the applicant’s situation and request.  So not every applicant has come to us and asked for the 
same hours.  But we haven’t an applicant on any one of these, even beyond the firearms sales, that said 
they want to operate 12 hours a day, 7 days a week.  And I guess I have some heartburn, I couldn’t quite 
frankly putting away the issue of firearms.  I couldn’t live with somebody…it wouldn’t seem right to me 
to allow somebody to have a home business that operates 7 days a week, 12 hours a day.  Just doesn’t 
seem right to me. 
 
Mr. Grimes:  And I respect the point where you’re coming from on this, but as noted in the development 
conditions and as we have placed these same development conditions on other applicants, customers by 
appointment only.  The hours of operation are a window which they can make those appointments in.  It’s 
not like it is a retail storefront operation where there’s going to be continuous foot traffic in and out of the 
business.  It’s a window that they can operate that business during.  It doesn’t necessarily mean that 
they’ll have traffic for that 12 hours a day. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  Mr. Grimes, I don’t know how long it takes to sell a gun, but if you’ve done it online, you 
can probably do the transaction in 15 minutes or 30 minutes, so if that’s over a 12 hour period, you’ve got 
24 guns a day.  Again, that seems pretty excessive for what I would consider to be a home business.  That 
may not be the case in this situation, but I think it provides, certainly, that opportunity and again, as Larry 
said earlier, you got to look at how this might transcend to the next person who lives in this house and 
what they might do with that opportunity.  It’s not about trying to restrict this particular individual, 
sometimes the immediate situation and the big picture as well and I do think, again, a distinction between 
what should be a home business and what should be a commercial enterprise. 
 
Mr. Kim:  I would agree if he has 3 acres, which, if you look at the aerial map, I mean, I think it goes back 
to the…I mean…I would…I in the past have wanted those restrictions more if there was a neighbor that 
was right next to him or her, but being that his driveway…you can’t even see a house until…you can’t 
even see another house until you see his.  I’m more inclined to be a little for flexible on that.  I don’t 
know if the Board feels the same, but like I said, when I had, in the past, made time restrictions on, I 
guess, home based businesses, it’s strictly on the vicinity of other residents.  I don’t know if the Board 
feels the same or if they feel a little differently on it.  For time wise I’m still inclined to do the 12 to 9, 5 
to  9, 4:30 to 9, something in that effect.  And I think that would be fair to the applicant to give him the 
opportunity to get home from work and operate that way.  I mean, that’s just my opinion.  I’m not stating 
that’s the way we should look at it.  You know, I’m just going back on why we set certain time limits for 
other applicants, regardless of FFLs to government contractors.  I think what we can do is, we’ll come 
back to the hours.  The one issue that I had that we put onto the applicant before, Mr. Watkins here, was 
not offering the sales of anything additional, as in, hey, I have rounds or I have a holster, because that to 
me would be retail sale which we prohibit in Stafford with the Ordinance.  So I would like to take that 
portion out where it’s strictly internet sales and no change, unless I’m reading it wrong.  Oh it does say it.  
 
Dr. Ackermann:  I’d like number 10 to be consistent with what we’ve done, saying discharging of 
firearms on site shall be prohibited. Number 9, I’m sorry.  I think number 10 is in fact consistent with 
what we’ve done in previous cases. 
 
Mr. Kim:  Yes, it is.   
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Mr. Apicella:  On that one, you know, there may be a difference, there’s a difference between an R-1 
parcel and an A-1 parcel.  I assume somebody could actually shoot a weapon, their own personal weapon, 
on an A-1 property and so if you’re going to provide some limitation you’re going to have to clarify that 
it’s for the purposes of the business, not for the applicant’s sole ability to discharge a firearm for whatever 
reason. 
 
Mr. Kim:  If it is allowed, I think 9, discharging a firearm on site shall be prohibited by customers, I’m 
okay with that language.  Yes, and if it’s allowed by the County as A-1, you can discharge your firearm, 
then if he wants to go out and shoot off a couple of rounds, I’m fine with that.  I don’t know if we need to 
distinguish that, because it’s already in there. 
 
Ms. Musante:  As long as he’s not in a no-shooting zone he can shoot on his own property. 
 
Dr. Ackermann:  Could he demonstrate a weapon to a customer then? 
 
Mr. Kim:  That’s a good question. 
 
Dr. Ackermann:  And I like what Steve was saying about, as long as it’s not business related. 
 
Mr. Kim:  I agree.  Good point. 
 
Dr. Ackermann:  I don’t know how we’re going to say this exactly, but that’s what I would be concerned 
with also. 
 
Mr. Kim:  Prohibited while customers are on site?  Would that satisfy… 
 
Dr. Ackermann:  That’d be fine with me. 
 
Mr. Kim:  Yes, because then if a customer on site he could not discharge a firearm.  Okay.  I guess, since 
we’re all in agreeance on everything else, can we clarify firearms can only be purchased by special order 
again?  Number 6? 
 
Ms. Musante:  That is in relations to the retail sales portion where they can only purchase the firearms 
through the internet.  They cannot have the display of firearms in their home for somebody to come and 
purchase. 
 
Mr. Kim:  Okay. 
 
Mr. Grimes:  Melody, we had another case, and I don’t think it was the first one, maybe some of the other 
Board members can remember, but there was a gentleman who did government sales of ammunition and 
we discussed this limitation in a lot of detail in reference to that particular business.  If I remember right, 
he even said, there’ll be times I’ll have 40,000 rounds because he was selling to the Marine Core for 
shooting matches.  Do we have any record?  I was trying to look at the meeting minutes online and I can’t 
get to them to see how we worded that development condition. 
 
Ms. Musante:  That’s what I couldn’t get when I went upstairs since my computer has crashed and 
unfortunately the minutes are not approved, so they will not be online until they are approved for that 
meeting.  
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Mr. Grimes:  I, and again, I’m doing this from memory, but I believe that we simply said that ammunition 
must be stored in cans inside of the safe or in this case the gentleman had a vault. 
 
Ms. Musante:  It was something to that effect. 
 
Mr. Kim:  He had a vault, which is why we extended the… 
 
Mr. Grimes:  And we did not put a limitation on the number of rounds. 
 
Mr. Kim:  I think we put a limitation… 
 
Ms. Musante:  We did. 
 
Mr. Grimes:  It was pretty high though. 
 
Mr. Kim:  It was a high number, but it was also, we put a limitation on how he can store it, which is in the 
vault in a, if I remember correctly, cans, I’m not sure, but it met the ATF requirements for the storage of 
the ammunition, so…Okay.  So to number 10 you’re saying that you would like to keep it at 5,000 rounds 
or, not sure where we were going with it. 
 
Mr. Grimes:  Again, I was coming back to the consistency across how we approve… 
 
Mr. Kim:  So you want to leave no limit or 50,000 rounds? 
 
Mr. Grimes:  I think that that previous special exception had special conditions with it because it had a 
vault, so I don’t have any problem leaving that 5,000.  I just wanted to bring that up, that I thought we had 
approved something higher than this before. 
 
Mr. Kim:  Yes, and I think mostly because he had the vault with the ammo storage can. 
 
Mr. Grimes:  Okay. 
 
Mr. Poss:  Well, he also had existing sales and the need for that much ammo also.  So it was a pre-existing 
need to store that much ammo.  In this particular case I don’t know that there’s a need for that much 
ammo to be stored. 
 
Mr. Kim:  So we’re good with 10. 
 
Mr. Grimes:  And as we’ve discussed before, the applicant can always come back and get this modified 
later if he needs more. 
 
Mr. Kim:  Okay.  We’re all good with “must comply with all State, Federal and local codes and 
regulations.  Number 12, the approval may be revoked for non-compliance of the conditions imposed by 
the Board of Zoning Appeals.  So we’re in agreeance with 2 through 12.  We’re still on the hours here. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  We’re going to add the 13th one, the special exception shall expire 8 years from date of… 
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Mr. Kim:  Oh yes, and 13, if you can add that, Melody.  Okay, back to number one, days of operation.  
Days and hours of operation. 
 
Mr. Poss:  When I see this, from 9 to 9, I think, basically, that the applicant is not looking for any 
restrictions on time.  The time is wide open.  I remember the applicant saying that he had a day job, so the 
sales would only be from certain times in the evening.  I’d like to get some clarification on that, because if 
he is not available to make these sales during the day, because he’s at work, then that may add some 
clarity to what our discussion is. 
 
Mr. Davis:  He indicated he was doing this partially for the 19 year old son to have something to do.   
 
Mr. Poss:  Right.  And I remember that.  Can we get a clarification on that? 
 
Mr. Kim:  Would you like to ask the applicant?  Would the applicant mind coming back up please?  
Thank you. 
 
Mr. Poss:  Thank you.  You had mentioned that you have a day job. 
 
Mr. Watkins:  Yes, Sir. 
 
Mr. Poss:  So, when do you normally work at your day job? 
 
Mr. Watkins:  I work for customs and boarder protection.  During the day, I leave at 6 AM, I get home at 
5.  You know Highway 95 can be a… 
 
Mr. Poss:  When you’re working, who’s going to be conducting the business from 9 in the morning until 
you get home in the evening? 
 
Mr. Watkins:  Well, it’s mostly me that will be conducting the business per se.  As far as internet sales, 
government sales, I can do that anytime anywhere.  The hours are basically just to accommodate those 
people who need to come in and pick up and transfer firearms.  Those are by appointment only.  At first, 
you know, this is just a hobby.  I don’t expect a lot of traffic.  Suppose the business picks up and we get a 
lot of traffic and it moves to commercial use, then maybe it might be time to get a retail store front. 
 
Mr. Poss:  But there wouldn’t be any sales going on while you are at work?  There wouldn’t be any 
transfers going on in your home while you’re at work? 
 
Mr. Watkins:  No. 
 
Mr. Poss:  Okay.  That was the clarification I needed. 
 
Mr. Kim:  I’m sorry, can I ask you one more question, Mr. Watkins? 
 
Mr. Watkins:  Yes, Sir. 
 
Mr. Kim:  So, if there were going to be no sales, or it’s not sales, it’s actually transfer of the firearms 
during the day, can you clarify why then 9 AM to 9 PM, because we’re stuck on that.  Like I said, we 
want to be accommodating.  We want to… 
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Mr. Watkins:  Well, because I know that you’re going to restrict certain hours and I just want to make 
hours presentable for the customers to be able to come and make an appointment to accommodate a 
transfer. 
 
Mr. Kim:  Well, let me ask you, so if we did 4 to 9, which is 5 hours, or 5 to 9, would you be opposed? 
 
Mr. Watkins:  I wouldn’t be opposed to that, knowing that I can come at a later time and have that 
modified if necessary. 
 
Mr. Kim:  Yes.  Great, thank you.  If I can make a suggestion on 1, is 5 to 9, since he has a day job and 
then there won’t be any transactions and if he does want to modify he can modify at a later time.  Take 
Sunday out, leave Saturday…could you come up one more time, Mr. Watkins?  I’m sorry.  For Saturday 
and Sunday, are you opposed to…do you have a preference for earlier or later? 
 
Mr. Watkins:  I’m just trying to make myself available for the customer.  I would imagine early in the day 
would be better than later on Saturday and Sunday. 
 
Mr. Kim:  Okay.  So, you guys, 9 to 2, 9 to 3?  Are you opposed to those hours? 
 
Mr. Watkins:  No.  I would be opposed to taking out Sunday completely, because there are people who 
need Sunday to do business. 
 
Mr. Poss:  Actually the Saturday and Sunday hours might be more important than the Monday through 
Friday. 
 
Mr. Kim:  Absolutely.  Would you be opposed to, let’s say, business Wednesday through Sunday?  Leave 
Monday and Tuesday out? 
 
Mr. Apicella:  I think we’re making this too painful, Mr. Chairman.  I think you’re okay with the 4 to 9 or 
5 to 9, I’ve already forgotten, Monday through Friday and let’s just say 12 to 6 on Saturday and Sunday.  
Let’s not make it too hard for anybody, including the applicant.  Seems reasonable. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  This is not a debate amongst us.  We make that decision.  We’ve listened to him.  We make a 
decision on what the majority thinks is the proper hours. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  I don’t disagree, but I also don’t disagree with Greg’s comment, that given this set of 
circumstances that Saturday and Sunday might, you know… 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  I don’t disagree with that, but I’m saying… 
 
Mr. Apicella:  I just…3 to 6 or 12 to 2 or…I think we’re getting to the point of being maybe too 
restrictive, so…just my thought. 
 
Mr. Kim:  Okay, let’s just do Monday through Friday, 5 to 9 PM, Saturday and Sunday, 12 to 6.  Do I 
have a motion. 
 
Mr. Davis:  So moved. 
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Mr. Apicella:  Second. 
 
Mr. Kim:  Okay, I have a motion made by Mr. Ray Davis and seconded by Steven Apicella to approve the 
special exception as stated in case…oh, with the approval of change in suggested development conditions 
that days and hours of operations be Monday through Friday, 5 PM to 9 PM and Saturday and Sunday is 
12 to 6 PM. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  And the addition of number 13. 
 
Mr. Kim:  And add the addition of number 13, that it expires within 8 years of approval.  Okay.  All in 
favor say aye. 
 
Mr. Grimes:  Aye. 
 
Mr. Davis:  Aye. 
 
Mr. Poss:  Aye. 
 
Dr. Ackermann:  Aye. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  Aye. 
 
Mr. Kim:  Aye.  All opposed? 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  Nay. 
 
Mr. Kim:  Alright, let the record reflect that the motion is approved by 6 and nay by 1.  Thank you.  I now 
ask the secretary to read our final and last case.  I’m sorry, did I forget something?  I made the motion to 
approve…We can redo that.  I have a motion made by Mr. Ray Davis, your motion was just the 
exceptions?  Okay this is to approve just the exception, not the approval of the special exception. 
 
Dr. Ackermann:  You mean the special development conditions. 
 
Mr. Kim:  Yes, special development conditions.  All in favor say aye. 
 
Mr. Grimes:  Aye. 
 
Mr. Davis:  Aye. 
 
Mr. Poss:  Aye. 
 
Dr. Ackermann:  Aye. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  Aye. 
 
Mr. Kim:  Aye.  All those opposed? 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  Nay. 
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Mr. Kim:  Okay, let the record show 6 yay and 1 nay to add the suggested development conditions of days 
and hours of operation be Monday through Friday, 5 PM to 9 PM and Saturday and Sundays to 12 PM to 
6 PM and number 13 to expire 8 years the day of license approval. 
 
Dr. Ackermann:  And I’m assuming we’re also modifying number 9, discharging a firearm on site. 
 
Mr. Kim:  Oh yes, I’m sorry, while on site.  Okay now do I hear a motion to approve or deny SE14-
05/1400164?   
 
Mr. Davis:  I motion for approval of special exception SE14-05/1400164. 
 
Mr. Kim:  Do I hear a second? 
 
Mr. Poss:  Second. 
 
Mr. Kim:  Okay, I have a motion made by Mr. Ray Davis and second by Mr. Gregory Poss to approve… 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  Mr. Chairman, can I have a little discussion. 
 
Mr. Kim:  Yes, Sir. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  I’m inclined right now to oppose the motion.  I think this is a different animal that what 
we’ve been looking at of simply transferring arms.  It looks like, from what I’ve listened to and what I’ve 
heard the applicant talk about, to have retail sales and it’s going to be tough for this group over here to 
minister and all that, so I’m going to probably vote against this motion. 
 
Mr. Poss:  I think the conditions that we’ve set does not allow retail sales. 
 
Mr. Kim:  No. 
 
Mr. Poss:  So I think the condition speaks for itself.   
 
Mr. Kim:  And also in section 11 it says “must comply with all state, federal and local codes and 
regulations”, so if there is a time that the applicant would be selling other options there, we can revoke the 
special exception.  I know that we’re a little short staffed for staff to go out to these areas.  As I state now, 
we can just vote, I’m pretty confident…go ahead. 
 
Mr. Grimes:  I’d like to offer up that I do believe that the development conditions that we’ve suggested go 
a long way to provide some consistency across these approvals for a lot of these home based businesses 
for firearm transfer.  I would also offer for the record that the code states in 15.2-23-09, part of the powers 
and duties of the Board is to hear and decide applications for special exceptions and I’m going to quote it 
here: “as may be authorized in the Ordinance, the Board may impose such conditions relating to the use 
for which the permit is granted as it may deem necessary in the public interest”.  With that said, this 
speaks to the hours of operation, the foot traffic, how it affects the neighbors, so I believe that these 
conditions help reinforce the zoning and the use of a home business as it’s intended for occasional use, 
not a retail operation.   
 

Page 34 of 55 
 



Board of Zoning Appeals Minutes 
May 27, 2014 
 
Mr. Kim:  So do I have a motion for approval.  I know there’s…we’re going back to Mr. Davis’s motion 
for approval and Mr. Poss’s second for approval and there was one disapproval, but we’ll vote and by 
yays and nays and that will be the outcome.  Okay, so I have a motion made by Mr. Ray Davis and second 
by Mr. Gregory Poss to approve the request for a special exception as stated in the case SE14-05/1400164 
and all in favor say aye. 
 
Mr. Grimes:  Aye. 
 
Mr. Davis:  Aye. 
 
Mr. Poss:  Aye. 
 
Dr. Ackermann:  Aye. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  Aye. 
 
Mr. Kim:  Aye.  All those opposed? 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  Nay. 
 
Mr. Kim:  Okay, let the record show we approved 6 to 1.  I know ask the secretary to read the last and 
final case. 
 
4. SE14-06/1400174 – Barry K. Boyd - Requests a Special Exception per Stafford County Code, 

Section 28-35, Table 3.1 "District Uses & Standards," B-2, Urban Commercial, to allow a 
microbrewery in accordance with Section 28-39(w) on Assessor's Parcel 19U-1.  The property is 
zoned B-2, Urban Commercial, located at 15 Tech Parkway, North Stafford Center for Business 
and Technology. 

 
Ms. Musante:  You have the application, the application affidavit, plat of the property and the building 
layout.  The applicant is requesting a Special Exception to operate a microbrewery in an existing 10,370 
square foot retail center; 6,500 square feet will be utilized for the brewing and 3,500 square feet will be 
utilized for the tasting room.  The application states the hours of operation to be open to the public will be 
Monday through Thursday, 4:00 PM to 10:00 PM, Friday 3:00 PM to 11:00 PM, Saturday 12:00 PM to 
11:00 PM and Sunday 12:00 PM to 8:00 PM.  He plans to install a twenty (20) barrel system with initial 
capacity of 1,350 saleable barrels per year.  The brewery will offer tours on weekends to explain the 
brewing process.  The applicant indicates he will have a tasting room where he will sell samples and will 
have growler fills for takeout use.  At this time, he is not planning distributing his product, but that will be 
the goal in the future.  The site currently has adequate parking to accommodate the anticipated twenty five 
(25) to thirty (30) customers per day.  The parking requirements for this use are a combination of those 
needed for the tasting room and those needed for the manufacturing of the product.  For this site, the 
tasting room is 3,500 square feet and requires thirty-nine (39) parking spaces and the brew room is 6,500 
square feet and requires 2.5 parking spaces per 1,000 square feet, for a total of fifty-five (55) spaces.  The 
existing site has 71 as shown on the site plan submitted.  The Board of Supervisors adopted an ordinance 
on May 21, 2013, giving the Board of Zoning Appeals authorization to grant a Special Exception for 
microbreweries in the B-2, Urban Commercial Zoning District. 
 
Mr. Kim:  Are there any questions for the staff? 
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Mr. Ingalls:  Yes, I have one.  On the distribution, I mean he can do that at a later date without any kind of 
approval?  It says, at this time he is not planning distributing his product, but that would be his goal in the 
future, I mean, is that something he can do without… 
 
Ms. Musante:  Let me check the Ordinance real quick. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  Okay. 
 
Ms. Musante:  The Ordinance states “any sales for on-premises and off-premises consumption shall be in 
accordance with the licensing requirements of the Virginia Department of Alcohol Beverage Control and 
any applicable Virginia Law,” 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  Okay, thank you. 
 
Dr. Ackermann:  Are there restrictions on how the tasting room could be used?  I mean, could I have a 
party there or can we have musical entertainment, that sort of thing? 
 
Ms. Musante:  He can have special events there.  It does limit the number people he can have there.  It 
does state “no more than 200 without a conditional use permit,” 
 
Dr. Ackermann:  Okay, thank you. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  Mr. Chairman, I have some questions about the existing site itself and the compatibility of 
a microbrewery at that specific location.  Can we get some more detail about what…so this, the way it 
reads, it’s a tech center, so I’m trying to understand how a brewery, and I support microbreweries, but I’m 
trying to understand how a microbrewery fits in with the site itself.  What’s there now?  What’s the plan 
for this tech center? 
 
Ms. Musante:  That would be research that staff would have to do and come back with you with those 
answers.  I do not have the site plan with me other than I do know it was approved for retail. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  Yes, but, you know, when I look at the conditions, the rules governing the granting of 
special exceptions, it says the proposed use, microbrewery, will not change the character of the area and 
its use is in harmony with the uses permitted by-right in the zoning district.  It does say some examples 
are restaurants and retail food shops, but that’s still not the same as a microbrewery.  Again, I have no 
issues or concerns with the microbrewery, I was part of the Planning Commission when we recommended 
approval of microbreweries, including in B-2s.  I just need to know more about this specific site and 
whether or not a microbrewery is in harmony with what’s there now and what’s planned to be there in the 
future. 
 
Ms. Musante:  That would be research that we would have to do and bring back to the Board. 
 
Mr. Poss:  Mr. Apicella, I can give you a little bit of understanding about the site.  I live probably about a 
mile or so from there.  It’s right off of Garrisonville Road, about 5 miles west of 95.  This particular strip 
center here is in the front and then behind that there are probably 4 or 5 buildings that are used for 
government contracting and things like that.  As I recall, there’s not really any residential homes in that 
vicinity, on that side.  There is, I believe there is a proposed Sheetz gas station going in on the other side 
on the corner, there at Furnace Road and Garrisonville.  So just from my perspective, it’s probably not 
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going to affect the residential character of that neighborhood, because there’s not much there in that 
general vicinity. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  I appreciate that and it’s not just about the residential, it’s about the business uses, so, 
again, comparing a microbrewery to, say, another office building that might house more government 
contractors for example.  It sound like the, I call it a campus, has an intended use.  It’s on Tech Parkway 
and it’s the North Stafford Center for Business and Technology.  So I’m trying to see how our 
microbrewery fits in with that construct.  It may be fine.  I just don’t know what the plans were.  I don’t 
know why this was established as a Business and Technology area, so I’m just trying to get further 
clarification about, again, what’s envisioned. 
 
Mr. Poss:  The only thing that’s in there, you see the sign there, it says Saladinos, that’s a restaurant that 
went in there maybe a year or so ago.  It didn’t last very long.  It’s been vacant for some time.  The only 
other business in this entire section here is a nail center and that’s the only thing that’s been there since its 
inception. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  Where is the nearest school from this site? 
 
Mr. Poss:  That would be Garrisonville Elementary, which is probably a mile or more from there I would 
think.  It’s down off of Garrisonville, down Furnace onto Choptank.   
 
Mr. Apicella:  And so my last question for staff, does the applicant have a contract on the building, or a 
conditional contract subject to BZA approval? 
 
Ms. Musante:  That would be a question you’d have to ask the applicant.  I don’t know if he has a contract 
with them or not.   
 
Mr. Apicella:  Alright.  Thank you. 
 
Mr. Kim:  Okay.  Would the applicant or his, or her representative please come forward to present their 
case? 
 
Mr. Boyd:  Good evening, Chairman, Board.  My name is Barry Boyd.  I would love the opportunity to 
place a 20 barrel microbrew system at 15 Tech Parkway and it is, there is only two buildings at 15 Tech 
Parkway and each one of those buildings that we’re speaking of are all retails leased spaces.  The building 
that I want to occupy, if you’re looking buildings, the building on the right and that has 6 retail outlets 
available to it.  You just put partitions up and they have different doors for every business and there is a 
nail salon is the other business. This building was built back in 2007 and basically has sat vacant, with the 
exception of two tenants, the nail salon and Saladelis, that was operated by Patty from Patty’s Pub House.  
And he pulled out because he wasn’t hitting the numbers.  So this is a 10,370 square foot building that I 
would like to occupy and put in a 20 barrels system with adequate cellaring equipment to produce the 
beers.  I looked at the suggested development conditions and what I have supplied in my application, 
basically the layout, it’s pretty much hand drawn and I did that because when I’m looking at a 10,300 
square foot building with a rent of 12 to 18 dollars a square foot, my monthly rent on that place would be 
over 10,000 dollars or higher, right, so, I would like to move in, but that’s a lot of money and so I would 
like to get Board approval to say that I will have no restrictions to move into this building and be able to 
operate at a profit.  The intended use for this, it is a B-2 zoned building and you do allow special 
exceptions and that’s why I’m here.  The idea behind this is just to open up the business and go out there, 
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and you spoke about distribution.  Yes, I would like to distribute beers and looking at how that would 
work.  It would be, hopefully, just local initially, to local retail establishment, Chili’s, things of that nature 
and then hopefully I can start a canning process within the building and be able to put it out into local 
stores.  So there is a plan for distribution and that would not increase the traffic too much on 610 for what 
I need, because there’s only going to be maybe one truck and I’m not talking a semi here.  One truck a 
week possibly and then obviously with directly across the street we’re having Sheetz go in and that’s just 
cater-corner to where 15 Tech Parkway is and that’s also zoned as Bravo-2.  The hours of operation, when 
I submitted my special exception allowance here, I took swag at what the tasting room hours will be, 
however the brewery will also be…there’s a separation between the tasting room and a brewery.  The 
brewery will be open from sometimes 8 o’clock in the morning to start the brew process and we could 
work all the way up to almost midnight, so if you would be so inclined, I would like to change those hours 
08:00 to 12 midnight and that would give us a lot of leeway there.  And I think that’s about it.  If we can 
get through the approval process with the stated hours and no serious restrictions that will limited my 
ability to produce quality craft beer and be able to distribute locally and within the brewery with growlers 
in the tasting room, I think this would be a real bonus to, not only Stafford and the tourism in this County, 
but it’s just…we are growing, so thank you for your consideration and I’m available for any question you 
may have. 
 
Mr. Kim:  Any questions for the applicant? 
 
Dr. Ackermann:  I’ve got one.  Could you, going to Mr. Apicella’s question, can you compare the 
environment that this brewery will be in to where the Blue and Grey Brewery is in Fredericksburg?  Have 
you ever seen the Bowman Center?  Do you know where that is? 
 
Mr. Boyd:  I am familiar with the Blue and Grey.  My brewery will be called Barley Naked Brewing 
Company.  So Barley Naked will be similar, but anything like it.  If you have ever visited Port City 
Brewing Company, it will be more on the lines of that establishment than comparing it to Blue and Grey.  
Nothing against Blue and Grey, but… 
 
Dr. Ackermann:  But I mean in terms of the other businesses around it.  You know what I mean, you 
know, where Blue and Grey is, is in an industrial site. 
 
Mr. Boyd:  Absolutely and you can easily move into an industrial site and not have any limitations posed 
upon you, so I wish to seek the approval of the Bravo-2 and keeping the area clean, well kept, in 
alignment and harmony with the existing environment.  You’re not going to see pallets sitting out back.  
When we have grains being hauled away for local farmers, they’ll be placed out back when they arrive.  If 
you’re thinking of how Blue and Grey looks like on the right hand side where they have the side entrance, 
no Sir, it’s not going to look like that. 
 
Dr. Ackermann:  Thank you. 
 
Mr. Boyd:  You’re welcome. 
 
Mr. Poss:  I have a question.  There was an article in the Free Lance Star back on the 24th, a nice article 
about your proposal and I’m interested in the 20 barrel system.  In the application it says 1,350 barrels, in 
the article it says 3,120 barrels.  How does that work with the production? 
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Mr. Boyd:  Going through my business plan, okay, and it states it in the application, my initial will be 
right around 1,300 barrels.  So that’s what I see initially opening up within the first year and I see a 
scaling to capacity within the next 3 to 5 years after that.  So 1,300 barrels is not going to be our limit, so 
it’ll be what we can produce in that building. 
 
Mr. Poss:  What’s the capacity of a 20 barrel system?  Maximum capacity? 
 
Mr. Boyd:  It depends on the space that you have within the property and I’m just going to refer to Port 
City Brewery, they have a 25 barrel brew system.  They started out with an initial capacity of about 2,000 
barrels.  Right now they just bought a new 120 barrel fermenter so they have a couple on hand.  So that 
means during the day they’re brewing around the clock to fill that, to fill those fermenters.  I’m, at this 
time, I don’t see us doing what they’re doing, because they are absolutely in an industrial sight.  They 
have 20,000 square foot.  I got half of that foot print.  And my tasting room right now is designed to be a 
little bit larger than theirs.  So, to answer your question, for a 20 barrel system, doing 2 brews 3 times a 
week throughout the year, I can produce up to 7,000 barrels in that year.  And that’s just doing 2 brews 3 
times a week.  And sometimes some breweries brew around the clock to fill their barrels to capacity, 
which does not draw any other disharmony to that area.   
 
Mr. Poss:  Okay, thank you. 
 
Mr. Boyd:  You’re welcome. 
 
Mr. Kim:  I have a couple of questions.  Are you going to serve food?  Because I’m not sure on the ABC 
rules, but if I remember from a long time ago, it was a certain percentage of sales to…but I heard that they 
took the beer sales portion out.  It’s just liqueur now.  This is just more of a… 
 
Mr. Boyd:  I wish I could answer that question, but I will tell you this.  I would love to have a cut out of a 
kitchen in the brewery at some time in the future if we have the patronage and we have the market to put 
in a kitchen and start operating it, I would like to do that.  But initially we have no plans to install a 
kitchen nor food, it will be a tasting room only. 
 
Mr. Kim:  Okay and the other question, I’m sure your new landlords, whoever they may be, they have a 
slew of dos and don’ts, and is in their stipulation, or requirements, that you don’t leave outside garbage.  I 
know you stated that, but I think the biggest concern for me would be presence of the area, if it is a Tech, 
I don’t really see anything in here that…would you have any…would you maybe not agree to having a 
special development condition where we add something about not adding trash, even if your landlord, or 
even though you stated what you did, I just would feel a little more comfortable that I would like to keep 
it not like Blue and Grey.  I’m mean, it’s nice where it is and I am completely…I love microbreweries, I 
love tastings, but there being a school within a mile, I do feel like that maybe a little special condition of 
not leaving… 
 
Mr. Boyd:  Sir, are you requesting that we not have trashcans out front? 
 
Mr. Kim:  No, not trashcans.  What’s the best way I can put it?  Stuff that’s not in the trashcan? 
 
Mr. Boyd:  Well, I will say this.  I live in Stafford County and I love this County and I want to place a 
business in here and I would like that business to thrive and one way to have it not thrive is to have the 
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place look like hell.  So that will not happen.  And we will generate trash and there’s a dumpster right 
around back. 
 
Mr. Kim:  Well, that’s not a problem.  I don’t even know what Blue and Grey has, but that one area 
you’re talking about… 
 
Mr. Boyd:  In between buildings.  I’m familiar with what you’re… 
 
Mr. Kim:  Yes, it looks really…that’s the kind of thing.  I mean, it’s not in trashcans, it’s just kind of left 
near a trashcan. 
 
Mr. Boyd:  That’s an industrial problem. 
 
Mr. Kim:  I don’t have a problem, but if it was industrial then obviously would not even be a concern, but 
it being so close to…you know, it not being industrial. 
 
Mr. Boyd:  Right. 
 
Mr. Kim:  Okay.  Just a regular question. 
 
Mr. Boyd:  No, no, it’s good. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  I have similar questions along the same lines, Mr. Chairman.  Again, putting on my 
Planning Commissioner hat, if we were looking at something like this, the issues would be concerned 
about traffic noise, trash, I said noise.  So what I’m not clear on, and I don’t know enough about brewery 
operations, there are people, there are other enterprises close by…first of all, the one thing you said, that 
I’m not clear on, you kind of indicated that you didn’t like the conditions, although I thought you said 
what you wanted was maybe a clarifying condition of the part of the business that’s open to the public 
versus the brewery operation and you maybe wanted a stipulation added that you can operate  the brewery 
part from 8 to midnight and maybe you could live with the other conditions, but I’m not clear so I’m 
trying to figure out what don’t you like or what do you want to have added to the conditions that were 
presented by staff? 
 
Mr. Boyd:  Okay, so just to narrow that down, when I applied for the application and right now we don’t 
have no investors, I’m just doing this out of my own pocket.  This application cost me 1,400 dollars to 
stand before you to have you review this application and then, you know, so even before I get approval to 
move into this place.  So I threw the application together, alright, real quick and the foot space and how 
everything roughly is going to look, but I guarantee you, how it looks on paper here will change, because 
once I get approval, and I may have to come back, I understand that, I would rather not, but once I get 
approval, right, and this could be a condition, that once I get the approval, I’m going to hire a brewery 
designer, an architect and then we’re going to have it designed from the inside out, from the floor up.  I’m 
not doing something on a shoe string budget.  We will invest up to and over 800,000 dollars to improve 
the inside and get all the equipment and build out the tasting room and have everything ready for this 
property.  So this is going to be a quality act.  
 
Mr. Apicella:  Yes, there’s no condition about how you deal with the interior part of it. 
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Mr. Boyd:  So when I threw everything together, I took a swag, a guess at what I though normal operating 
hours for the tasting room would be, however, the tasting room could be closed and the brewery is open 
and you can still get samples in there, or have growler fills.  It’ll be still open to the public within some 
reasonable time frame. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  And I think, Sir, that’s what we narrow down.  I personally would not be comfortable with 
having, again, 7 days a week, 8 to midnight, so I’m trying to narrow down, what are the right hours of the 
brewery versus the right hours of having a business open to the public.  You know 8 AM on a Sunday 
doesn’t strike me quite right to have it open to the public per se, but I can see where you would need to, 
for production purposes, have the brewery operating, again, 8 AM to midnight every day, if that’s what 
the BZA agrees to.  So I’m trying to make that distinction.  So we’ve got 5 conditions here, I suspect 
Larry might add another condition, about the term of a special exception, but in terms of what’s in front of 
us, I’m just trying to narrow it down.  What can you live with?  So I hear you that you, you know we call 
it a general development plan, generalized development plan, that’s not a condition here.  There is no 
condition that says it’s going to have to look exactly like you drew on a picture.  We’re trying to talk 
about some other things that are secondary, but could affect the operations and those are the conditions 
that were put forward and I’m just trying to figure out what is it that you don’t like?  What would you like 
to see changed specifically? 
 
Mr. Boyd:  So to answer your question, we – I will be in the hospitality business, so we are going to 
entertain people, which mean we’re going to have special functions throughout the year.  There’s going to 
be St. Patrick’s Day, Oktoberfest, all those other…craft beer week, where we may open up early.  And 
some holidays…we would like to have that flexibility to operate and also be in alignment with the special 
exceptions or the conditions that are placed upon us.  So, I don’t want to put myself into a box and say, 
hey I’m only going to be open from 4 until 11, when that’s going to be a holiday and I know for a fact I’ll 
be operation outside of that perimeter.  So my…I’m a father, I’m a husband and my younger days are 
gone, so I would like reasonable hours, but to operate a business and turn a profit, we need that flexibility. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  I appreciate that you need flexibility, but again, I don’t envision a 24 hour operation here.  
So we need to come to some kind of meeting of the minds about what’s reasonable and I think, you know, 
we might even be able to come up with some special events kind of time frame, but just to kind of leave it 
open without any perimeters, I personally would have a hard time. 
 
Mr. Boyd:  I would say 08:00 in the morning till 12 midnight and that’s not out of alignment with… 
 
Mr. Apicella:  Every day? 
 
Mr. Boyd:  7 days a week, but it won’t be those hours, but it gives me the flexibility to operate a business 
within a perimeter.  So, if we put in the special exceptions or the conditions 08:00 to 12 midnight, that… 
 
Mr. Apicella:  So on a Tuesday you’ll have the public over there to do tastings at midnight on a Tuesday? 
 
Mr. Boyd:  No, Sir, because we’ll be shut down by then. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  See, we can say that, we can have the dialog here, but unless it’s enshrined in some type of 
documentation, it’s… 
 
Mr. Boyd:  Well, at midnight they’re not getting served anymore, so it’ll be closed. 
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Mr. Apicella:  Well, 11:59.  I’m not trying to be flippant, but somebody walks up to the door at 11:59 and 
wants a tasting, you’re saying that’s what you should have a flexibility to do and I’m just trying to see if 
we can…you think that’s reasonable and myself, I might think that may not be reasonable and I may be 
the only one, but again, you heard the discussion about the previous application.  We try to bind these to 
be reasonable to also keep in mind that there are other people around there.  There are businesses close 
by.  I’m just trying to come up with something that makes sense, given what you’re trying to do.  I want 
you to be successful and the County wants you to be successful, because they’ve established 
microbreweries as a special exception, but I’m just trying to figure out, and I don’t know what the right 
answer is, what would be reasonable hours of operations for the public to come in.  Again, I don’t have a 
problem on its face with the brewery operating from 8 to midnight as long as you can assure me that 
there’s not going to be noise issues, there are not going to be sound issues and I don’t know what kind of 
deliveries there are going to be back and forth, but that could be an issue too over the long haul, because I 
don’t know if you go from having a standard small truck to a Mack truck, well that might bring in some 
circulation issues within the specific location that you have. 
 
Mr. Boyd:  Typically B-2 zone enterprises, you pick any restaurant, they shut down at midnight and they 
open up first thing in the morning and this is a B-2 zoned area and I’m not asking for anything more or 
anything that you haven’t already approved previously for any other microbrewery in a B-2 zoned area.  
And I don’t…what I’m hoping for is not to be placed in a box, so that way, if business is needed I’m 
going to limit myself and I think giving me the latitude of 08:00 to 12 midnight is reasonable. 
 
Mr. Kim:  Yes, I agree, I’m sure you’re not going to be open, I mean, I agree with your latitude, I agree 
with you having time to…if…St. Patrick’s Day, you know, people really drink early those days and if a 
group does want to come by at 8, I actually agree with that.  I mean, it’s B-2, I’m sure there’s where you 
are, I’m sure there’s noise ordinances that you have to follow by and I don’t know…I’m ok with the 8 
AM to 12.  I don’t know how anyone else on the Board feels, but I’m okay with that exception.   
 
Mr. Ingalls:  Including Sunday?  Seven days a week? 
 
Mr. Kim:  Yes, I’m…I mean it’s not a residence, it’s an absolute…you know, it’s set for a business 
setting and I would not feel good restricting him to generate any kind of income or even staying afloat.  If 
8 AM to…I know people that have done tastings around that time at different breweries, and I know that 
those other breweries do the same.  I mean they’re not going to be open on a Monday, it’s not a holiday, 
they’re not opening up at 8, unless there’s a special…we have a bachelor party or whatever may be and 
I’ve heard those people having exceptions and I’m sure you’re going to abide by all the rules and regs of 
the complex where you’re at and which would be not be in our purview but…so I’m okay with 7 days a 
week with 8 AM to 12 AM.  Anyone else wants to… 
 
Mr. Poss:  I got a question for staff.  On a normal business permit, say a Chili’s or and Applebee’s, are 
there time restrictions when they can be open?  Because they serve alcohol. 
 
Mr. Kim:  And that’s where I’m kind of going at. 
 
Mr. Poss:  There’s no restrictions on… 
 
Ms. Musante:  No, Sir. 
 
Mr. Poss:  Okay. 
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Mr. Apicella:  What restrictions did we place on…I think we’ve only had one of these in front of us…the 
camp ground.  What hours of operation did we establish there? 
 
Ms. Musante:  I would have to go pull the application. 
 
Mr. Grimes:  I have the meeting minutes here for that one.  I think it was referred to as the Short Branch 
and I think the hours were actually asked for by the applicant and it was from 12 noon to 10 PM, 7 days a 
week.  And if I remember right the applicant said, I don’t want to be up past 10 PM, so I’m closing at 10.  
He didn’t ask for any longer hours, just because that’s how his operation, he wanted to run his business. 
 
Mr. Kim:  But I also think he had in mind the other…he had tenants there and he wouldn’t want to bother 
the tenants…camp ground, sorry, whoever stays there.  I don’t see that being an issue in this case.  Just 
my opinion. 
 
Mr. Poss:  In terms of the Sheetz that’s proposed across the street, do you know if that’s going to be a 24 
hours station?  Are they typically 24 hours, or…?  So more than likely this will be a…the Sheetz across 
the street will be a 24 hour facility.  I’m kind of the opinion, I mean I know this area it’s a nice area, that’s 
a nice Technology Park, it’s kind of my opinion, if you’re going to go in there and you say you’re going 
to spend 800,000, my guess is, probably you’re going to spend more than that, because things are more 
expensive than we think, but if you’re going to go and spend that much money, we need to be able to 
trying to ensure your success as much as possible and that means opening potentially longer, or give you 
the opportunity to be open those longer hours, so that would be my opinion on that. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  You know, I think, when the Board added this microbrewery to the ordinance and put it 
under a special exception, I think they did expect us to look at it, because it’s different.  It’s not a 
restaurant, it’s got a few different things, yet it operates similar, but it’s different a little bit so I know the 
Board expects us to look at and evaluate each of these breweries.  And the biggest thing always to me is 
location, location.  Now, we’re in a B-2, the other one that we did, I’ve only been here with one, and that 
was in his trailer park, he probably doesn’t want me to call it that, camp ground, you know, so that was 
different.  I mean that was a totally different…this is in a commercial area.  You can have restaurants; you 
look what are allowed in B-2.  You know microbrewery fits in there, but there are certain things maybe 
we need to look at and at first I was concerned about the hours, but I’m not sure that…you know, Sunday 
hours bother me more.  The rest of it, you know, 8 to 12, Monday through Saturday doesn’t bother us, 
bothers me a little bit on Sundays. I guarantee he won’t be open at midnight on Sunday. 
 
Mr. Boyd:  I guarantee it also. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  At the same time, maybe we need to make sure, help you out there and say, well, we’re 
going to send you home to your family; maybe we’re going to send you home.  Make you go home on 
Sunday night.   
 
Mr. Boyd:  My wife would appreciate that. 
 
Mr. Kim:  But as we state, you know, business, we do want you to make tons of money.  We want you to 
be profitable and successful, so if you’re happy with the 8 AM to 12 AM with your business plan, I’m 
100 percent for it and I don’t feels that there should be any…you know, if this was at your home, it would 
be a completely different story, but this being at a B-2 zoned area, I really, I would even say, and I don’t 
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know how the Board would feel, but I would even be more inclined to if you want later that’s fine, simply 
because of where you’re at. 
 
Mr. Boyd:  I can always come back. 
 
Mr. Kim:  So 8 AM, 12 AM.  Okay.  Monday through Sunday, 7 days a week.  Okay. 
 
Mr. Poss:  So just for clarification, we’re modifying number 2.  Monday through Thursday would be… 
 
Mr. Kim:  Just taking that all out.  It’s strictly 7 days a week, 8 AM to 12 AM and not looking like the 
Blue and Grey brewery on the side.  That’s the only thing I don’t like and obviously you can use the trash 
and we want you to use trash, we just don’t want you to…see the trash and put around the trash. 
 
Mr. Boyd:  Understood. 
 
Ms. Musante:  Mr. Chair, we do need to address condition number 1, because it states the microbrewery 
will comply with the plan submitted with the case and any significant modifications to the plan will be 
subject to approval by the Board of Zoning Appeals. 
 
Mr. Kim:  I was going to ask, I’m not… 
 
Ms. Musante:  So that needs to be modified. 
 
Mr. Kim:  The plans, I was going to ask, which after I went to applicant, but what plans are you 
talking…the actual plans? 
 
Ms. Musante:  He submitted a floor plan in here… 
 
Mr. Kim:  Oh yes, okay. 
 
Ms. Musante:  …of what he anticipated, but from what he’s told us tonight, that could change drastically 
and if we leave that as a condition, he’s binded to that condition. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  Well could we add the word generally.  I mean, I assume you’re going to have all the things 
that you show on this plan.  The shape may be different and the location, maybe move around a little bit, 
but you’re going to have a cold storage, a tasting area, a brew house, more storage and whatever else.  I 
mean, it’s all going to be there just like that, but it may not look like that.  So “generally” would that…if 
we said generally according to the plan? 
 
Mr. Kim:  Yes, I would like to give a little more latitude, because me opening a gym right now, the cost 
of building things.  Doing one way to the other was cheaper, we modified it that way, so taking this 
restriction gives you more latitude on what you…if you want to put the…forget it…if you just could 
modify the way you want. 
 
Mr. Boyd:  Than you.  And you may want to put this in there also, that at least of the brewery has to be of 
the intended use, which is the brew house, not the tasting room.  So the tasting room can’t be larger than 
the brew house.  So that’s one of the stipulations within the conditions and I just want to make sure that 
you all are covered. 
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Mr. Kim:  What condition…who is that from? 
 
Ms. Musante:  It’s actually in the Code. 
 
Mr. Kim:  Oh, okay, well right here it says, comply with all the…you know…so as long as you comply 
with it, that doesn’t have to be a special exception, especially since it’s in the Code. 
 
Mr. Boyd:  Okay. 
 
Mr. Grimes:  I have a question.  One of the development conditions notes that 55 parking spaces are 
allocated for the brewery.  That was placed by the… 
 
Ms. Musante:  That’s what he’s required based on the information he’s given us for his business.  The site 
itself has more than that, but he has to allocate at least 55 spaces and he has done that based on the site 
plan submitted. 
 
Mr. Grimes:  Okay and you’ve noted the applicant has 71 spaces available.  Is that based on a known 
lease requirement, or a gift to you based on the square footage you’re renting, because I look at the plan 
and I look at the number of parking spaces available in the parking lot.  How many total spaces are 
available in front of this… 
 
Mr. Boyd:  Just in front there’s 60, or high fifties, very high fifties, 60 and I’m including the 16 spots 
behind the building, which will be used for overflow and for employee parking. 
 
Mr. Grimes:  And so you’re looking at taking the entirety of building B? 
 
Mr. Boyd:  Yes, Sir. 
 
Mr. Grimes:  So, the spaces that you’ve highlighted on that plan that was attached, those are the spaces 
you just counted? 
 
Mr. Boyd:  Yes. 
 
Mr. Grimes:  So it doesn’t… 
 
Mr. Boyd:  I split that down the center in between the two properties of building 1 and building 2 and I 
just started counting. 
 
Mr. Grimes:  I just wanted to make sure that you weren’t encroaching into building A’s parking spaces. 
 
Mr. Boyd:  No, I split right…the road that goes in between those two buildings, I split that right down the 
center and took everything.  As you look at the buildings from the front to the right and I counted all those 
spaces. 
 
Mr. Grimes:  And so your plan is to in the lease negotiations to make sure that those spaces are allocated?   
 
Mr. Boyd:  Yes, and if there’s any other business that get put in for a brewery they can only sell my beer. 
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Mr. Kim:  Well, also, if I’m correct, if I can ask staff a question.  There is Code where depending on the 
square footage for a commercial setting you need, I mean, that’s already set in stone, like every 1,000 
square feet needs 1 parking space.  I don’t know if that’s it. 
 
Ms. Musante:  Correct.  They have an overage for their parking on this entire site.  There’s not an issue 
with the parking. 
 
Mr. Poss:  I’ve got a question for staff.  We talked about number 1 on the conditions.  Since we have 
number 4, that they must comply with all local codes, is number 1 required or is that serving a different 
purpose? 
 
Mr. Kim:  Yes, I just would like to take it out. 
 
Ms. Musante:  It’s totally up to you. 
 
Mr. Kim:  Yes, I mean, I don’t know how the rest of the Board feels, but I would like to give them…like I 
said, opening a gym makes me…I had to switch things around because of cost and plumbing, so I 
changed my schematics of my gym, because of that, so I imagine you might do the same.  I hope not, 
because it cost me a lot of money to do it. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  I can tell you again, from a Planning perspective, just by saying “in general conformance 
with” gives him a good degree of flexibility while also kind of maintaining the overall integrity of what’s 
planned.  So, you know, again, just trying to strike the right balance between having nothing and having 
something.  
 
Mr. Kim:  I’m sorry, what were you proposing? 
 
Mr. Apicella:  I’m just saying, the words that Larry added, I think give the applicant some flexibility by 
saying “in general conformance with”.  It doesn’t hold, I mean, if you had to move a room from one part 
of the building to another part to the building, you would be in general conformance with. 
 
Mr. Kim:  You okay with that? 
 
Mr. Boyd:  I am and once the brewery is finally designed on paper then I can also submit it as an 
addendum to this application. 
 
Mr. Kim:  I’m okay with that, as long as there’s…like, I don’t want you to be bounded by this, because 
your 800 would go up a lot more.  So Steven, how would you like to word… 
 
Mr. Apicella:  I think it’s already been addressed.  I think Larry suggested “in general conformance with 
the plan”. 
 
Mr. Kim:  In general conformance with the plan? 
 
Mr. Apicella:  The microbrewery will be in general conformance with the plan. 
 
Mr. Kim:  Okay, any more questions for the applicant? 
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Mr. Ingalls:  He’s limited to, what, 10,000 barrels and so I was going to just reiterate that you’re aware 
that being a microbrewery you are limited to 10,000. Actually it’s less than 10,000. 
 
Mr. Boyd:  They just raised that and I don’t see myself going over 10,000, but the definition of a 
microbrewery is larger than 10,000. 
 
Mr. Kim:  And if it does, you’ll be looking for bigger space. 
 
Mr. Boyd:  I will be looking for bigger space. 
 
Mr. Grimes:  The definition that was approved by the County this year is what limits that 10,000.  The 
County changed that? 
 
Ms. Musante:  Not to my knowledge. 
 
Mr. Grimes:  There might be a different definition by ABC, that’s different than the County’s.  I just want 
to make sure that you understand the County has added this definition which limits you inside of the 
County. 
 
Mr. Boyd:  Understood.  10,000 is good. 
 
Mr. Kim:  So you want to add number 6 to the…okay, okay, okay. 
 
Mr. Grimes:  The County defined a microbrewery as less than 10,000 barrels. 
 
Mr. Kim:  But you’re talking 3,000? 
 
Mr. Grimes: (inaudible) 
 
Mr. Boyd:  Yes, and I think number 4 covers that with local codes. 
 
Mr. Kim:  Okay, any more questions for the applicant?  Any member of the public who wishes to speak in 
support of the applicant please stand and come forward.  Please state your name and address please. 
 
Mr. Preston:  Thank you.  Gary Preston.  I just wanted to bring to light that there’s 2 other 
microbreweries, Capitol Brewery in Shirlington which is in an upscale outdoor mall and then Three 
Nudge Brewery which is in a strip mall in Charlottesville, Virginia.  Thank you. 
 
Mr. Kim:  Any others in support?  If I can remind you to please state your name and address please? 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  Did he stand and raise his hand? 
 
Mr. Donald Brookins:  Donald Brookins, … 
 
Mr. Kim:  Were you sworn in? 
 
Mr. Brookins:  I don’t think the other gentleman was.  I can swear in if you need me to, I don’t think it’s 
going to take that for what I’m going to say. 
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Mr. Kim:  Yes, that’s fine.  Gentlemen, I’ve been in this County for 20 years and I don’t think I even have 
to stand up here and talk… 
 
Ms. Musante:  Excuse me, Sir, I’m sorry to stop you, but we need your name and your address before you 
continue. 
 
Mr. Brookins:  Okay, Donald Wayne Brookins.  Sorry.  Anyway, I just wanted to say a couple of things 
about Mr. Boyd and I think really, having been a resident of Stafford County for 20 years, we’ve seen it 
grow.  Really you’re looking for character when you approve something like this first and foremost.  I 
mean, we’re talking about alcohol and some of the things that go along with it, but having lived across the 
street from Mr. Boyd for many years and knowing him personally, what didn’t come out is, he’s a 27 
years veteran of the Coast Guard and his integrity is unquestionable in my opinion, having spent 20+ 
years in the Marine Core myself and I think that…I don’t think I even have to say that, because I think 
you all are in concurrence to what is going to happen here tonight, but I just wanted to make it public 
record that this is a stellar gentleman and I think he’s going to do good things for our County and that’s 
just something I wanted to say and get it onto public record.  Thank you. 
 
Mr. Kim:  Anyone else?  Okay.  Any member of the public who wish to speak in opposition to the 
application, please come forward.  Okay.  We’ll close the public hearing for the application and bring the 
matter to the Board for motions and discussions, decisions.  Steven, to go back to what you were saying, 
are you okay with the 8 AM / 12 AM timeframe, going back to timing again? 
 
Mr. Apicella:  I do have concerns.  I think there will be some unintended consequences.  Mr. Boyd may 
be a fantastic owner.  At some point in time, his business may be so successful, he sells it to somebody 
else and the next person who owns it may not be so generous and again, 8 AM in the morning, every day 
of the week seems excessive to me, but I can live with it.  We’ll see how it goes.  We can only learn from 
it. 
 
Mr. Kim:  Did you want to take a motion for that time? 
 
Mr. Apicella:  No, I can live with it. 
 
Mr. Kim:  Okay.  Anyone else?  Okay.  Do I have a motion for approval or denial for this special 
exception of… 
 
Mr. Apicella:  I just want to be clear that we did add a couple of words to number 1. 
 
Mr. Kim:  Oh yes, okay.  Approval with the suggested development conditions.  We changed number 1 to 
“the microbrewery will comply with general conformity with the plan”…”will be in general conformity 
with the plan”  and number 2 “the days of operation to the public will be Monday through Sunday, 8 AM 
to 12 AM and… 
 
Mr. Apicella:  No I though we changed that.  I thought the hours of operation are 8 AM to 12 AM every 
day of the week, period. 
 
Mr. Kim:  Yes, did I not…okay, every day of the week.  That’s fine.  I mean, wouldn’t it be Monday 
through Sunday? 
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Mr. Apicella:  Every day of the week is Monday through Sunday. 
 
Mr. Kim:  If you want to word it “every day of the week” we can word it “every day of the week”. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  And I don’t think we need to make a distinction between the brewery and the public, 
because no one wanted to make a distinction there so. 
 
Mr. Kim:  Okay, so days of operation 8 AM to 12 AM every day of the week. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  I think “open to the public” may be important.  He might want to start brewing at 7 o’clock 
in the morning.  And could he do that? 
 
Mr. Apicella:  That’s different from what we’ve discussed.  He said that he would operate his business, 
the brewery from 8 AM to midnight, now if he wants a different time, then we ought to talk about it. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  No, it says days of operation open to the public. He might, like I said, maybe he starts 
brewing or whatever, I don’t know what he does there, at 7 in morning… 
 
Mr. Apicella:  And again, I thought I heard him say that in terms of he wanted the hours open to the 
public to be the same as the brewery operations, 8 AM to midnight, so if the brewery hours are going to 
change to 7 AM, then I may have some heartburn with changing those hours, because that’s not what, 
number 1, we discussed and number 2, there’s a point in time where it gets too early. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  We were discussing number 2 “days and hours of operation open to the public”. 
 
Mr. Kim:  I took it as hours of operations and the public. 
 
Mr. Davis:  Can we ask the applicant what he wants? 
 
Mr. Kim:  Can the applicant please come up again?  Thank you.  Can you please clarify between hours of 
operation that you would be brewing to the public?  Do you want them to be the same time, 8 to 12, or do 
you want a little more latitude on timing of brewing time, or, I don’t know what the process would be. 
 
Mr. Boyd:  I’d like to make sure that open to the public is strictly 8 in the morning till possibly midnight, 
7 days a week.  Brewing time, not open to the public, you know, operating a business, if I need to have 
my staff go on vacation or go out to the great American Brew Fest, they may have to brew around the 
clock to fill up all the tanks and let those ferment and be prepared for when they come back.  So open to 
the public 08:00 to midnight, brewery operating hours brewing, I don’t think you should…because we’re 
not going to generate noise. 
 
Mr. Kim:  I agree with you. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  I don’t know.  I have no idea what kind of noise a brewery makes. 
 
Mr. Kim:  There were times I have gone in after hours with my business and I don’t know that… 
 
Mr. Apicella:  What kind of business do you have, Danny? 
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Mr. Kim:  I have a gym that will be open June 15th.  
 
Mr. Apicella:  And do you have neighbors at your gym. 
 
Mr. Kim:  Yes, it’s in a shopping mall. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  How much noise can a gym make?  What I hear, again, I’m just trying to clarify for the 
record, it sounds like you’re manufacturing something.  I don’t know what kind of noise level, and I 
realize there are noise standards, there’s nobody there now, but there may be other companies, other 
businesses that are going to be located next door, so, again, I… 
 
Mr. Kim:  Can you elaborate on the noise? 
 
Mr. Boyd:  Yes.  I’ve worked in a brewery and it is no more noise in a brewery than you would have in 
your kitchen when you’re boiling a kettle.  I may play music, I don’t go absolutely insane when nobody 
else is around, but it is just normal noises, because you boil the wort, so there might be a gas sound or a 
steam kettle sound that’s generating the heat to bring the pots to boil, but it’s not over any decibel level or 
hearing protection is required, or sound mitigation is needed. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  Okay.  I just needed it explained. 
 
Mr. Kim:  Okay.  Thank you.  So now we’re going to take the hours of operation out and just say “open to 
the public and hours of operation no restriction”. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  No, we’re going to have hours of operation. 
 
Mr. Kim:  Oh no, no, no, hours of operation… 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  Open to the public Monday through Sunday, 8 AM to 12 PM. 
 
Mr. Kim:  12 AM. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  Sunday, Monday through Sunday. 
 
Mr. Kim:  Every day of the week, but that’s just open to the public. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  That’s open to the public.  We’re not restricting him to what he’s doing in the brewery.  
We’re just saying, it only can be open to the public those hours. 
 
Mr. Kim:  Yes, that’s fine and then if you want to brew afterwards and you need to do 24/7 because of a 
brew fest, then that’s…I mean, if there is a noise violation I’m sure you’ll hear from one of them and… 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  And I’m not suggesting a time frame on this one, because I think it would be awful hard for 
a business man to go in with a proposal and say 5 years, you have to come back here.  And maybe they 
won’t be a nice as we were. 
 
Mr. Kim:  So days and hours of operation just open to the public 8 AM to 12 AM.  Okay, so I stated 
everything else.  Do I have a motion to approve? 

Page 50 of 55 
 



Board of Zoning Appeals Minutes 
May 27, 2014 
 
 
Mr. Poss:  I’d like to make that motion to approve with development conditions, case SE14-06/1400174. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  I’ll second the motion. 
 
Mr. Kim:  Okay.  I have a motion made by Mr. Gregory Poss and seconded by Mr. Larry Ingalls to 
approve the request for a special exception with the changes to the suggested development conditions for 
case SE14-06/1400174.  All in favor say aye. 
 
Mr. Grimes:  Aye. 
 
Mr. Davis:  Aye. 
 
Mr. Poss:  Aye. 
 
Dr. Ackermann:  Aye. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  Aye. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  Aye. 
 
Mr. Kim:  Aye.  All those oppose say no.  Let the record show 7 out of 7 members approving the 
application.  Good luck.  Thank you. 
 
UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
 
Mr. Kim:  Okay, any unfinished business? 
 
Ms. Musante:  No. 
 
ZONING ADMINISTRATOR’S REPORT 
 
Mr. Kim:  Report by the Zoning Administrator? 
 
Ms. Musante:  No. 
 
ADOPTION OF MINUTES 
 
Mr. Kim:  Okay.  Adoption of the minutes. 
 
Ms. Musante:  No. 
 
Mr. Kim:  Okay, so I don’t hear any, great.   
 
OTHER BUSINESS 
 
Mr. Kim:  Other Business? 
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Ms. Musante:  Yes. 
 
Mr. Kim:  Okay, and what would that be? 
 
Ms. Musante:  That would be the handouts that you all received tonight regarding legal counsel.  The 
Board of Supervisors did approve moneys for BZA representation, effective immediately.  You have three 
resumes in front of you from out of five actually that we send them to.  Hopefully you’ve…I don’t know 
if you had time to review them today, I did send them to you by email.  I believe it was Dr. Larson’s 
intent for this to be settled before he returned as you do have a case coming next month, it’s an appeal, 
that you may want them on Board for. 
 
Mr. Kim:  Okay.  Go ahead. 
 
Dr. Ackermann:  Question.  Do you have any notion of how we will use…did Dr. Larson say anything 
about how we would use this legal counsel?  I guess the person would be at the meeting, or we get advice 
from the person before the meeting? 
 
Ms. Musante:  He does not anticipate them to be at every meeting.  It’s going to be on an as-needed basis.  
More so, you know, calling up and asking the general question, if you all do not have the answer to it or 
need that advice like, I’ll use the retail sales thing.  We don’t have a definition of that, well let’s call the 
attorney and see what kind of cases they’ve had prior.  That’s my understanding. 
 
Dr. Ackermann:  So that if we do have questions that arise in a meeting, that we think we should get some 
legal advice on then we’re probably carrying over the decision to another meeting, until we get that 
information.  I just want to… 
 
Ms. Musante:  You could. 
 
Dr. Ackermann:  Just do know how.  We did it in the past, we had a person at the meeting which was 
great, but it also gave us a lot to think about at the meeting. 
 
Ms. Musante:  It’s not his intent to have the attorney at every meeting.  It’s only on controversial issues 
and from my understanding, the amount that you all were given, was 10,000 dollars and that’s to last, I 
believe, 12 to 14 month.   
 
Dr. Ackermann:  That has some bearing on who I would think might be appropriate for this, or just how 
we would use the person.   
 
Ms. Musante:  I do know it’s not his intent to have that person at every meeting, only on the controversial 
ones. 
 
Mr. Kim:  Yes, that’s what I heard from the chair.  Can I…I have to throw a motion out there.  I motion to 
go into closed meeting, pursuant to Virginia Code 2.2-3711-A1 to discuss and consider candidates to 
provide legal services to the BZA, if I can explain.  Mr. Apicella said that this might be advisable to go a 
little more in depth into personal reasoning’s of the candidates, so I present the motion in front of the 
Board. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  I’ll second it. 
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Mr. Kim:  Okay, so we should take a vote to close session. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  Mr. Chair, since there’s no one here in the room, can we just do it here and just stop taking 
minutes, if we agree to go in a closed session. 
 
Dr. Ackermann:  We should go…I say the formal thing so we can just stop taking minutes now. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  That’s what I’m saying.  There is no one in the audience so normally what happens when 
you go into a closed session, there’s a little anteroom adjacent to this. 
 
Mr. Kim:  Can we just stop taking minutes from now on until further directed. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  If we go into closed session. 
 
Mr. Kim:  We have to vote on it so, I motion to stop taking minutes. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  No, it’s not about…you are going into closed session.  You have to formally go into closed 
session pursuant to the regulation that you just read.  I’m just saying, for the sake of convenience that we 
don’t have to get up and go into the other room. 
 
Dr. Ackermann:  We need to go through the proper channel. 
 
Mr. Kim:  Yes.  Unfortunately all I have is what I’m supposed to motion.  I don’t know the perimeters 
and maybe, Melody, you can direct us in the perimeters. 
 
Ms. Musante:  Basically, from what I understand, because I’ve not been through this either, is, you read 
the information there, you all vote on it as a Board and then we stop taking minutes at that point and 
you’re in closed session.  And when you’re done, you have to read the next paragraph to get back in. 
 
Mr. Kim:  So we don’t have to move, we can just stay here? 
 
Ms. Musante:  You can stay here. 
 
Mr. Kim:  Okay great.  I motion to go into closed meeting pursuant to Virginia Code 2.2-3711-A1 to 
discuss and consider candidates to provide legal services to the BZA. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  I’ll second that motion. 
 
Mr. Kim:  All in favor say aye. 
 
Mr. Grimes:  Aye. 
 
Mr. Davis:  Aye. 
 
Mr. Poss:  Aye. 
 
Dr. Ackermann:  Aye. 
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Mr. Apicella:  Aye. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  Aye. 
   
Mr. Kim:  Aye.  All those opposed?  Motion has been granted, we are in closed meeting. 
 
CLOSED MEETING 10:10 – 10:33 
 
Mr. Kim:  The Board of Zoning Appeals does hereby certify on this, the 27th day of May, 2014 that to the 
best of each member’s knowledge: 

1) Only public business matters, lawfully exempted from open meeting requirements under the 
Virginia Freedom of Information Act were discussed in the closed meeting, to which this 
certification applies and 

2) Only such public business matters, as were identified in a motion by which the set closed meeting 
was convened were heard, discussed, or considered by the BZA. 

I motion that sentence.  Anyone second that? 
 
Dr. Ackermann:  I second it. 
 
Mr. Kim:  All in favor say aye. 
 
Mr. Grimes:  Aye. 
 
Mr. Davis:  Aye. 
 
Mr. Poss:  Aye. 
 
Dr. Ackermann:  Aye. 
 
Mr. Apicella:  Aye. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  Aye. 
   
Mr. Kim:  Aye.  All opposed say no?  Let the record reflect 7 out of 7 approved the motion.  Okay, so 
now going to pick for legal representation for the Board of Zoning Appeals. 
 
Mr. Grimes:  I would motion to the Board that we approve Gifford Hampshire as our appointed counsel 
on future matters. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  Second. 
 
Mr. Kim:  Okay, I have a motion made by Mr. Robert Grimes and seconded by Mr. Larry Ingalls to 
approve Mr. Gifford Ray Hampshire as our legal counsel.  All in favor say aye. 
 
Mr. Kim:  All in favor say aye. 
 
Mr. Grimes:  Aye. 
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Mr. Poss:  Aye. 
 
Dr. Ackermann:  Aye. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  Aye. 
   
Mr. Kim:  Aye.  All those opposed?    
 
Mr. Apicella: Mr. Chairman, I’m going to abstain since I know one of the perspective candidates, firms. 
 
Mr. Kim:  Okay.  So, let’s redo this.  I have a motion made by Mr. Robert Grimes and seconded by Mr. 
Larry Ingalls to approve Mr. Gifford Ray Hampshire as legal counsel for the BZA.  We have one abstain 
from this vote.  Will all those in favor signify by saying yay? 
 
Mr. Grimes:  Yay. 
 
Mr. Poss:  Yay. 
 
Dr. Ackermann:  Yay. 
 
Mr. Ingalls:  Yay. 
   
Mr. Kim:  Yay.  All opposed say nay? 
 
Mr. Davis:  Nay. 
 
Mr. Kim:  Okay, let the record reflect the motion is approved by 5 to 1. Do I hear a motion to adjourn? 
 
Dr. Ackermann:  Do we have to anything about the by-laws changes that were distributed?  Just curious. 
 
Ms. Musante:  Those were for you all to review and we can take that up at next month’s meeting. 
 
ADJOURNMENT 
 
Mr. Kim:  Do I hear a motion to adjourn? 
 
Dr. Ackermann:  I move we adjourn. 
 
Mr. Grimes:  Second. 
 
Mr. Kim:  Thank you ladies and gentlemen for your attendance and your input tonight.  We’re adjourned. 
 
With no further business to discuss, the meeting was adjourned at 10:36 p.m. 
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	Ms. Musante:  You have the application, the application affidavit, plat of property, HOA requirements and home business standards.  The applicant is requesting a Special Exception to conduct firearm transfer services as a home business. Firearm transf...
	Mr. Kim:  Are there any questions for staff?
	Mr. Apicella:  Just for the sake of the record, these conditions are similar to the condition we’ve placed on other, similar applications.
	Ms. Musante:  That is correct.
	Mr. Apicella:  Thank you.
	Mr. Kim:  Okay.  Will the applicant or his, or her representative please come forward and present their case.
	Mr. Deyo:  Hi, my name is Richard Deyo.  I live at 1102 Cape Code Drive, Stafford.  I’ve applied for the FFL license through the ATF.  I do have approval from the neighborhood that I live, Aquia Harbour.  I went through them first prior to filing for ...
	Mr. Kim:  Is there any question for the applicant?
	Mr. Davis:  You indicated you had gone to the home owners.  Is that the Home Owners Association?
	Mr. Deyo:  Yes, Sir.  That is part of my package.  I submitted that.  I went before the Board of Directors of Aquia Harbour.  I am also 100 percent retired, disabled vet, so I do have a background on firearms.
	Mr. Poss:  Just to clarify your statement, you said that you’re not going to be selling firearms at all.
	Mr. Deyo:  That is affirmative.
	Mr. Poss:  So there are no internet sales, no…
	Mr. Deyo:  No, Sir, there is not.
	Mr. Poss:  Just transfer.
	Mr. Deyo:  Strictly transfer only.  The only thing that I would sell would be locks for a firearm to prevent someone from doing something silly, or dummy bullets that you can put in the gun, once again, as a prevention.  That’s the only thing that I w...
	Mr. Poss:  Okay, thank you.
	Mr. Deyo:  I don’t have any place to put it anyway.
	Mr. Kim:  I have a question.  Are you, minus the dummy bullets and the safety lock mechanism, do you plan to sell ammunition?
	Mr. Deyo:  No, Sir.
	Mr. Kim:  No ammunition, no pepper spray, no Taser.
	Mr. Deyo:  No.  I do not have a, what I would consider adequate storage area for that.
	Mr. Kim:  So latterly, it’s a strictly…
	Mr. Deyo:  Strictly a transfer.
	Mr. Kim:  And then you will have all the safety like dummy bullets and…
	Mr. Deyo:  That is correct.
	Mr. Kim:  Okay.  Thank you.
	Mr. Apicella:  Sir, it’s a bit of a…oh, I’m over this way…it’s a bit of a technicality, but it is an important one.  Retails sales are not permitted in certain areas of the County, in certain zoning locations, so when you say that you’re going to prov...
	Mr. Deyo:  No, no.  This is something…I would purchase, let’s say, 7 or 8 different types of safety locks.  They would be maintained or kept on my premises.  I would also buy different caliber of dummy bullets.  When someone comes to me to pick up the...
	Mr. Apicella:  And I think – I have no problem with the safety lock – I think that’s a good thing.  The problem, again, we’re sort of in a box here about what we can authorize, and the way that you distribute or sell the product, again, you could be s...
	Mr. Deyo:  I understand you fully.
	Mr. Apicella:  I’m not trying to dissuade you from doing it.  My concern would be how you do it, so we stay in compliance with the requirements.
	Mr. Deyo:  If I’m not in compliance then I wouldn’t do it.
	Mr. Apicella:  I’m not suggesting you don’t do it, I’m just saying…
	Mr. Deyo:  It was something that I wanted to offer.  My primary purpose, my primary goal is to just be a conduit.  I thought, in my own, from a business perspective, that if I could offer those other categories…I’m not selling anything.  When I say se...
	Mr. Apicella:  Again, I’m not suggesting you don’t do it.  I’m suggesting if you still want to provide that opportunity to your customers, that you don’t do it at the point of sale at your house, that you do it in some other mechanism.
	Mr. Deyo:  Oh, okay.
	Mr. Apicella:  Otherwise we won’t be fulfilling the requirements of the current County Zoning Ordinance.
	Mr. Kim:  I have a question.  Would you have – good point, Mr. Apicella – the question that I have is, would you, I guess so we can be in compliance of the Ordinance that we have here in Stafford, would you be opposed to adding like an additional, lik...
	Mr. Deyo:  Safety bullets you probably could.  Locks, because of the expense, I couldn’t give that away.
	Mr. Kim:  Oh no, I’m not saying give it away, but, I might be…
	Mr. Ingalls:  He could be offering two types of services, one without a lock, one with a lock.
	Mr. Kim:  That’s kind of what I’m suggesting.
	Mr. Deyo:  Yes, that could be done.
	Mr. Kim:  If you do it that way then it would not be an issue, saying that if you would normally charge 30 dollars for the fee of being the FFL for the transfer, if you offer maybe 35 dollars.  I don’t know how much the locks cost, but if you, you kno...
	Mr. Deyo:  Yes, that could be done.  Yes, Sir.
	Mr. Kim:  Would you have any issues with that?
	Mr. Deyo:  No.
	Mr. Kim:  Okay.
	Mr. Ingalls:  In your application you said for your hours of operation you had 1 PM through 6 PM, Monday through Friday and you said a half day on Saturday and closed on Sunday.  Could you give me your half day hours?
	Mr. Deyo:  A half day would be 12 to 6 in the afternoon.
	Mr. Ingalls:  On Saturday?  12 to 6?
	Mr. Deyo:  Yes, Sir.
	Mr. Ingalls:  Okay, that’s fine.  My other question was similar to the question I asked the previous applicant about a time…because things change and so, again, I’d like to limit to know that in a certain number of years…maybe the business model has c...
	Mr. Deyo:  I’m 67.  I’d like to have at least 8 years to go and then you can review it.  By then I’ll be in a wheel chair.
	Mr. Ingalls:  Alright.  Thank you.  Thank you.
	Dr. Ackermann:  May I ask a…Sir?  Question.  Over here.  Hi.  So do you have…I’m looking at the suggested development conditions that, I guess, you’ve seen perhaps?
	Mr. Deyo:  Yes, Sir, I did.
	Dr. Ackermann:  And one is “The applicant must have a safe or secured container for his or her weapons”.  Do you have that?
	Mr. Deyo:  Yes, Sir, I do.
	Dr. Ackermann:  I mean you said you couldn’t store a lot of weapons, but you have enough to…
	Mr. Deyo:  I just recently purchased a very solid case that’s been locked up against the wall.  I had bolts installed on the doors in the area where it’s located.  I did this because one of the prerequisites for the ATF, is to have that on premises pr...
	Dr. Ackermann:  Great and one of the conditions that I hope we can change soon, but it says “discharging of firearms on site shall be prohibited by customers”.  I think when we did this the last time we just changed that to “discharging of firearms on...
	Mr. Deyo:  I would never allow that in my house.
	Dr. Ackermann:  Okay, thank you.
	Mr. Kim:  Have you had a chance to read our suggested development conditions?
	Mr. Deyo:  Yes, Sir, I did.
	Mr. Kim:  Okay, and so if we took out, I mean, can you explain on the professionally monitored security system?  Is it like an ADT?  Can you elaborate a little more on your…
	Mr. Deyo:  Well, the security system that I have, you can’t even get into the Harbour, unless we allow you in there.  So that’s for starters.  So other than that, the only security system I have is, I dead bolted the locks in to the area.  I turned my...
	Mr. Kim:  Is it bolted?
	Mr. Deyo:  It’s bolted.
	Mr. Kim:  On the cement, or…
	Mr. Deyo:  It’s bolted into the brick.
	Mr. Kim:  Into the brick?  But then, since you won’t be selling, we can take out the ammunition must be stored…We can take out the ammunition.
	Mr. Deyo:  There is no ammunition.
	Mr. Kim:  There is no ammunition, so we can take 10 out.
	Mr. Apicella:  Mr. Chairman, before we go there, I’m going back to your previous question, the professionally monitored security system.  And we’ve had conversations about this the last several times this has come up and certainly within my perspectiv...
	Mr. Kim:  Like ADT.
	Mr. Apicella:  Not a specific vendor, but a vendor that has a call system when the alarm gets tripped that the police are called and not just, you know, some home thing that people sometimes do, but a service that provides professional security beyond...
	Mr. Kim:  I’m kind of leaning towards the same way.  Is there a clear definition of monitored security system through the ATF, Melody?
	Ms. Musante:  I’m not sure if they have a definition for that or not.
	Mr. Apicella:  I don’t think it really, for the purposes of what we’re doing here, a special exception, it’s not what the ATF wants, it’s what the County wants, so we’re stipulating the conditions that we think are appropriate beyond Federal, State or...
	Mr. Kim:  Would the applicant be completely opposed to hiring, not ADT, but another company like ADT, to monitor when something happens the local authorities will be called?
	Mr. Deyo:  If I had to, yes, I would.
	Mr. Kim:  I think that…my reading of it is maintained professionally monitored security system, even though I think, in my opinion and the bolt and everything is good, but I think having something that would be actually monitored if something…you know...
	Mr. Deyo:  In reality it would be safer for me too.
	Mr. Kim:  What’s that?
	Mr. Deyo:  I would be safer for me too, so that would give me a piece of mind also.
	Mr. Kim:  Yes, it’s a nice tax write-off.  Okay. Does that satisfy your…
	Mr. Apicella:  I just want to be sure that we’re on the same page, because we’re going to get more of these applications and not for me, but for the applicants themselves, if the County went and inspected the site and they found that it didn’t have a ...
	Mr. Kim:  So we’re clear with the professionally monitored security system and I thank you for bringing it up too.  So we are on the same page.
	Ms. Musante:  Mr. Chair, would you like me to read the development conditions, so we’re all clear with the addition of the expiration date?
	Mr. Kim:  That would be great.
	Ms. Musante:  You have the application, the application affidavit, plat of the property, diagram of the area for the business and the rural home business standards.  The applicant is requesting a Special Exception to conduct firearm transfer services,...
	Ms. Musante:  You have the application, the application affidavit, plat of the property and the building layout.  The applicant is requesting a Special Exception to operate a microbrewery in an existing 10,370 square foot retail center; 6,500 square f...

